
 
 
 
 
  

 

 
 

 
                           

MEETING AGENDA 

HISTORIC PRESERVATION COMMISSION 
SPECIAL MEETING 

TUESDAY, APRIL 23, 2024 
6:30 p.m. 

MEMORIAL HALL – MEMORIAL BUILDING 
19 East Chicago Avenue, Hinsdale, Illinois 60521 

 (Tentative & Subject to Change) 
 

1. CALL TO ORDER 
 
2. ROLL CALL  
 
3. APPROVAL OF MINUTES – March 6, 2024 Meeting 
 
4. PUBLIC MEETINGS & SIGN PERMIT REVIEW 

a) Case HPC-5-2024 / Case A-11-2024 – 302 S. Grant Street – Hinsdale Historical Society 
– Certificate of Appropriateness for a Designated Local Landmark and a Sign Permit 
Review to allow for Modifications to the Existing Ground Sign for Immanuel Hall  
 

b) Case A-10-2024 – Sign Permit Review – 5 E. First Street – The Salon by David and 
William / Brow Paradiso – Installation of Two (2) Wall Signs 
 

c) Case HPC-6-2024 – 317 E. First Street – Preservation Incentive for a Historically 
Significant Structures Property – Request for Alternative Bulk Zoning Regulations, 
Building Permit Fee Waiver, Expedited Processing, Property Tax Rebate, and Matching 
Grant – Construction of Rear Addition and Porte Cochere, Side Porch, and Detached 
Garage 
 

d) Case HPC-7-2024 – 317 S. Park Avenue Street – Certificate of Appropriateness for a 
Designated Local Landmark & Preservation Incentive for a Historically Significant 
Structures Property – Request for Alternative Bulk Zoning Regulations, Building Permit 
Fee Waiver, Expedited Processing – Construction of Rear and Side Addition, Exterior 
Alterations, and Construction of a Detached Accessory Structure / Pool House 
 

5. PUBLIC COMMENT 
 

6. NEW BUSINESS 
 
7. OLD BUSINESS 

a) Amendments to Title 14 – Status Update  
b) Robbins Park Historic District Gateway Signs 
c) Sixth Street Improvement Project 
d) Sign Code Update 

 
8. ADJOURNMENT 
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Public comments are welcome on any topic related to the business of the Commission at Regular and 
Special Meetings during the portion of the meeting devoted to a particular agenda item, or during the period 
designated for public comment for non-agenda items. Individuals who wish to comment must be recognized 
by the Chairperson and then speak at the podium, beginning by identifying themselves by name and 
address. All members of the public are requested to keep their written comments or testimony to three pages 
or less, and speakers are requested to keep their live comments or testimony to five minutes or less. 
Submissions or comments exceeding those limits may, if time allows and at the discretion of the Chairperson, 
be presented after all others have had an opportunity to testify, comment or have their comments read. Matters 
on this Agenda may be continued from time to time without further notice, except as otherwise required under 
the Illinois Open Meetings Act. 
 
The Village of Hinsdale is subject to the requirements of the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990. 
Individuals with disabilities who plan to attend this meeting and who require certain accommodations in 
order to allow them to observe and/or participate in this meeting, or who have questions regarding the 
accessibility of the meeting or the facilities, are requested to contact Andrianna Peterson, ADA Coordinator 
at 630-789-7005 to allow the Village of Hinsdale to make reasonable accommodations for those persons. 
Additional information may be found on the Village’s website at www.villageofhinsdale.org 

http://www.villageofhinsdale.org/


VILLAGE OF HINSDALE 
HISTORIC PRESERVATION COMMISSION 

MINUTES OF THE MEETING 
Wednesday, March 6, 2024 

 
The regularly scheduled meeting of the Village of Hinsdale Historic Preservation Commission was called to 
order by Chairman Bohnen in Memorial Hall of the Memorial Building, 19 E. Chicago Avenue, Hinsdale, IL 
on Wednesday, February 7, 2024 at 6:33 p.m.  Roll call was taken.   

 
PRESENT: Commissioners Sarah Barclay, William Haarlow, Jim Prisby, Chris Elder, and 

Chairman Bohnen 
 
ABSENT:  Commissioners Shannon Weinberger and Frank Gonzalez 
 
ALSO PRESENT: Bethany Salmon, Village Planner 
 
APPROVAL OF MINUTES – February 7, 2024 
Chairman Bohnen asked for comments on the February 7, 2024 Historic Preservation Commission meeting 
minutes. No comments were shared. Commissioner Elder made a motion, seconded by Commissioner 
Barclay, to approve the draft meeting minutes of the January 11, 2024 Historic Preservation Commission 
meeting minutes as submitted.  The motion carried with roll call vote of 4-0. 
 
            AYES: Commissioners Barclay, Haarlow, Prisby, and Chairman Bohnen 
 NAYS:  None 
 ABSTAIN: Commissioner Elder 
 ABSENT: Commissioners Weinberger and Gonzalez 
 
PUBLIC HEARINGS 
a) Case HPC-4-2024 – Consideration of Properties for Inclusion on the Historically Significant 

Structures Property List in the Historic Overlay District (Round 7)  
 
Please refer to Attachment 1 for the transcript for Public Hearing Case HPC- 4-2024. 
 
Commissioner Elder made a motion, seconded by Commissioner Barclay, to open the Public Hearing for 
Case HPC-4-2024 – Consideration of Properties for Inclusion on the Historically Significant Structures 
Property List in the Historic Overlay District.  The motion carried with a roll call vote of 5-0 as follows:   
            AYES: Commissioners Barclay, Haarlow, Prisby, Elder and Chairman Bohnen 
 NAYS:  None 
 ABSTAIN: None 
 ABSENT: Commissioners Weinberger and Gonzalez 
 
Ms. Salmon provided a brief summary of the process for consideration of the seventh round of properties, 
containing seven properties, to be discussed.  It was noted the Commission received an additional hand-out 
for 42 S. Quincy Street that was received after the full packets were prepared.  The additional information 
for 42 S. Quincy Street will be included in the full packet for the Board.   
 
Ms. Salmon introduced each proposed property for the list and the Commission briefly discussed the 
appropriate criteria item to qualify the property for inclusion.  Discussion followed relating to information on 
the individual properties.  The public hearing transcript detailing items of discussion for each property is 
included in Attachment 1.  Commissioners identified appropriate criteria items for each property.  
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It was noted that there was no public at the meeting to make comments.  Chairman Bohnen asked the 
Commission for comments. 
 
Hearing no comments, Commissioner Elder made a motion, seconded by Commissioner Haarlow, to close 
the public hearing for Case HPC 4-2024 – Consideration of Properties for Inclusion on the Historically 
Significant Structures Property List in the Historic Overlay District.  The motion carried with a roll call vote 
of 5-0 as follows:  
           AYES: Commissioners Barclay, Haarlow, Prisby, Elder and Chairman Bohnen 
           NAYS:  None 
           ABSTAIN: None 
          ABSENT: Commissioners Weinberger and Gonzalez   
 
Commissioner Prisby made a motion, seconded by Commissioner Elder, to recommend Village Board 
approval for the inclusion of the Historically Significant Structures Property List in the Historic Overlay District 
under Case HPC 4-2024: 546 N. County Line Rd., 4 E. Fifth St., 122 N. Park Ave., 42 S. Quincy St., 200 
Ravine Rd., 565 N. Washington St., 615 S. Washington St.  The motion carried with a roll call vote of 5-0 as 
follows: 
           AYES: Commissioners Barclay, Haarlow, Prisby, Elder and Chairman Bohnen 
           NAYS:  None 
           ABSTAIN: None 
          ABSENT: Commissioners Weinberger and Gonzalez 
 
PUBLIC COMMENT 
No public comments were shared 
 
NEW BUSINESS 
a) Sign Code Update  
No update 
 
OLD BUSINESS 
a) Amendments to Title 14 Status Update 
Ms. Salmon stated that the staff has been working with the attorney on options for revisions such as 
requirement of preliminary meetings and a process of appeal.  It is anticipated that the revisions will be 
brought to the Village Board very soon.   
   
b) Robbins Park Historic District Gateway Signs 
Ms. Salmon reports that Parvin-Clauss has been selected to manufacture the signs and signing the 
contract is currently in process.  The next steps will include a survey of the six areas, complete a JULIE 
locate, resident informational mailing of nearby property owners, and set an installation date.   
 
c) Sixth Street Improvement Project  
No Update from Staff, Commissioner Haarlow added the resident group was successful in pushing the 
project until 2025 and are awaiting firm estimates to be provided at March 19th Board Meeting.  The 
Village has asked the resident group for a desired proposal by July 1, 2024.    

 
d) Sign Code 
No Update  
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Adjournment 
Commissioner Elder made a motion, seconded by Commissioner Haarlow, to adjourn the meeting of the 
Village of Hinsdale Historic Preservation Commission meeting of March 6, 2024.  The meeting was 
adjourned at 6:58 p.m. after a unanimous roll call vote.  
 
 

 
ATTEST:  _________________________________________ 

                 Jennifer Spires, Community Development Office 
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STATE OF ILLINOIS )
                  )  SS:
COUNTY OF DU PAGE )

        BEFORE THE VILLAGE OF HINSDALE 
       HISTORIC PRESERVATION COMMISSION 

IN THE MATTER OF:               )
                                )
                                )
HPC-4-2024, Consideration       )
of Properties for Inclusion     ) 
on the Historically Significant ) 
Structures Property List.       )  

         REPORT OF PROCEEDINGS had and testimony 

taken at the Public Hearing of the above- 

entitled matter before the Hinsdale Historic 

Preservation Commission, on the 6th day of 

March, 2024 at 6:30 p.m.

BOARD MEMBERS PRESENT:

     MR. JOHN BOHNEN, Chairman;

     MS. SARAH BARCLAY, Member;

     MR. BILL HAARLOW, Member;

     MR. JIM PRISBY, Member; 

     MR. CHRIS ELDER, Member.
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ALSO PRESENT:1
         MS. BETHANY SALMON, Village Planner.2
________________________________________________

3

         CHAIRMAN BOHNEN:  First item on our4
agenda is a Public Hearing Case HPC-4-2024,5
Consideration of Properties for Inclusion on the6
Historically Significant Structures Property7
List in the Historic Overlay District Round 7.8
See no one in the audience that's going to9
speak.06:39PM 10
              This is the seventh list of11
properties brought forward for review by the12
Historic Preservation Commission.13
              May I have a motion to open the14
Public Hearing.15

MR. ELDER:  Move to open the Public16
Hearing.17

CHAIRMAN BOHNEN:  Second, please.18
MS. BARCLAY:  Second.19
CHAIRMAN BOHNEN:  Roll call, please.06:39PM 20
MS. SALMON:  Commissioner Barclay?21

         MS. BARCLAY:  Aye.22

3

MS. SALMON:  Commissioner Haarlow?1
MR. HAARLOW:  Aye.2
MS. SALMON:  Commissioner Prisby?3

         MR. PRISBY:  Aye.4
         MS. SALMON:  Commissioner Elder?5
         MR. ELDER:  Aye.6
         MS. SALMON:  Chairman Bohnen?7

CHAIRMAN BOHNEN:  Aye.8
There is no one in the audience in9

attendance so we will turn it over to Bethany to06:39PM 10
give us a brief overview.11

MS. SALMON:  This is our third round of12
properties for inclusion on our historically13
significant structures list before us tonight.14
We have seven properties that are being brought15
for consideration.16

Historic information was included17
on each of these in the packet and we will go18
through those.  I did provide all the19
commissioners with an extra packet of06:40PM 20
information that we got after the packets were21
published for 42 South Quincy Street.  We will22

4

include this for the board packet but I'd like1
you to know that we provided that for the record2
as we got it right after the packets were3
printed.4

So tonight we are going to have the5
historic preservation commission review each6
individual properties and as we have done before7
presented at the public hearing and determine if8
each property possesses one or more of the9
criteria set forth in Section 14-7-3-B of our06:40PM 10
village code and it needs to meet at least one11
criteria.  It doesn't need to meet them all but12
we need to at least evaluate one for them to be13
recommended for inclusion on the list to go14
before the board.  Then once a property is15
approved, they would be eligible to apply for16
any incentives.17

So unless there's any other18
questions about the process, I can start going19
through each of the properties.06:41PM 20

CHAIRMAN BOHNEN:  Perfect.21
MS. SALMON:  So the first home on our22

5

list for inclusion tonight and for consideration1
is 546 North County Line Road.  This is a2
single-family home in the R-4 district and this3
is a really exciting house because we actually4
through researching and working through the5
historical society were able to find the6
original building permits which does verify an7
original Sears catalog home.8

And this is kind of an interesting9
piece.  We weren't able to verify the model but06:41PM 10
there's quite a bit of back and forth between11
which model it might be and then the historical12
society did provide quite a bit of extra13
information that was included in the packet14
about some of the history.15

It does look like at some point16
maybe the front porch was enclosed and there was17
a rear addition at some point as well.18

This is a really interesting case19
where the homeowner is actually -- and this is06:42PM 20
included in the packet -- the homeowner is21
actually doing an addition to the house right22
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now.  They are not planning on applying for any1
preservation incentives as they wouldn't be2
eligible because construction is started, but we3
did include them because they spent a lot of4
time trying to actually put plans together and5
an architectural design that actually increases6
some of the historic preservation and changes7
that have been done to that front facade.  So we8
included that in the packet because obviously9
this is an ongoing thing and we have an addition06:42PM 10
ongoing and this is part of the inclusion.11

CHAIRMAN BOHNEN:  So we won't be voting12
on this house?13

MS. SALMON:  We would not be getting a14
preservation incentive agreement for this or an15
application for this.  They aren't asking for16
any of the grants, any of the property tax17
rebates or any of the alternative zoning,18
nothing that they are asking for, but they are19
working on the home right now.  But they would06:43PM 20
like to be on the list and obviously we want to21
take those changes into consideration if it was22

7

to be added.  We haven't had a property like1
this before.2

MR. PRISBY:  I think both 3 and 5 apply.3
MS. BARCLAY:  Agree.4
MR. PRISBY:  They apply because of the5

method of construction with the Sears house and6
obviously for the architectural natural history.7

MS. SALMON:  Okay.8
MR. HAARLOW:  I agree.9
CHAIRMAN BOHNEN:  Yes.06:43PM 10
MS. SALMON:  We will move on to the11

next house.  Okay.12
MR. PRISBY:  It's nice to have all this13

background.14
MS. SALMON:  I will say, and I should15

have said up top, we have been getting really16
great reports from the historical society.  And17
just in case anyone is listening, I believe they18
will put these reports together for homeowners19
for maybe $40 or $50 and it's a really great06:44PM 20
amount of research that they put into this.21

And like I said, they go back and22

8

look at the history of the property in terms of1
the deeds and the mortgages and they have done2
just a great job and it's really even in -- this3
is our seventh round but even how these packets4
look just less than a year ago, they have really5
become more of a full history report.  So they6
have been wonderful to work with.7

CHAIRMAN BOHNEN:  It's not only nice8
for us but it's nice for the homeowner to have9
the provenance.06:44PM 10

MS. SALMON:  Yes.  And it is a really11
in depth -- I'm really excited to show you guys12
another report that came later.13

MR. HAARLOW:  Bethany, I have a14
question for you along those lines.  They are15
providing a lot of this research.  Are we16
providing them with these packets as we approve17
them so they can have these in their archives?18

MS. SALMON:  Yes.  So all of these will19
be posted online and what we have been doing is06:45PM 20
the historical society always will come and look21
at our files as well.  I have been trying to22

9

send them some things as well, like the permit1
from the property we just looked at, but they2
really are truly the historians and they have3
actually access to probably better information4
than us but there have been a couple of times5
where we send them what we have as well.  They6
are just a little bit better at doing what they7
do.8

MR. HAARLOW:  It just seems to me that9
if you are asking for this and it comes in from06:45PM 10
them sort of piecemeal and then you assemble it11
all, it would just be -- maybe I'm old school12
20th century -- like a binder of all the homes13
that have been researched.14

MS. SALMON:  Yes.  One thing I know we15
talked about some time ago was putting something16
on the website of all of our homes and all the17
individual history of the properties that we18
have, we just haven't had some time to do that19
quite yet.  But I would like to do that at some06:46PM 20
point so that someone can easily find the21
property and pull that information on their own.22
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So the next house on our list up1
for consideration is 4 East Fifth Street.  It's2
in the R-1 single-family zoning district,3
single-family house.  This house is also called4
the Frank D. Danielson house, the common name,5
because one of its first inhabitants was Frank6
D. Danielson who was a former village manager of7
Hinsdale in the 1920s and kind of a big deal in8
terms of civil engineering back then.9

One thing that we included in the06:46PM 10
packet was some writings of his as well as some11
of the amazing work he did with creating a12
really well-known municipal ice plant in13
Hinsdale back in the day, which is kind of an14
interesting read.15

Past surveys found this house16
historically significant largely because it's17
also constructed by our Harold Zook, who is18
quite well-known, and so quite a bit of19
information was included in the packet.06:47PM 20

MS. BARCLAY:  Lots seem to apply here.21
2, 3, 4, 6 seem to apply.  A number of them.22

11

MR. PRISBY:  I'd add 5 to that as well,1
so 2 through 6.2

MS. SALMON:  2, 3, 4, 5, 6.  Okay.3
Any other comments?4

CHAIRMAN BOHNEN:  This house is going5
to be renovated by its present owner.  It's a6
project house that's going to be another nice7
Zook in town.8

MS. SALMON:  That would hopefully be9
the intent.  It's a really nice house and if you06:48PM 10
look through the packet, I know there's a lot of11
vines on the house right now so it's hard to in12
some of the photos see some of the Zook13
detailing but the Hinsdale Historical Society14
did have some old photos that you can kind of15
see more of the Tudor Zook Revival style.16

So the third property up for17
inclusion on my list is 122 North Park Street.18
So this house is considered the Ella Warren19
house.  There's some information in here from06:48PM 20
the historical society that was also provided by21
the homeowner.  We have some past surveys that22

12

rated this house significant and contributing.1
There have been some minor changes2

to the house such as a rear addition in 1955 and3
a rear screen porch.  There's a nice write-up on4
the history of the house, also in Mary5
Sterling's book Hinsdale Historic Homes and the6
People who Lived in Them.  And it's on Park7
Street, which has a very nice brick street in8
front of it.9

So it did in the past, I believe06:49PM 10
the year was 1996, when they did that rear11
addition, the Hinsdale Historical Society did12
grant them with a preservation award back then.13

CHAIRMAN BOHNEN:  It's interesting that14
this still is considered a Victorian with that15
roof shape.16

MS. SALMON:  Yes.  I think per one of17
the more recent surveys they called it a Gambrel18
front versus a Victorian but it's hard to know,19
you know, what -- how it's been classified06:49PM 20
depending on who you ask.21

MR. PRISBY:  I'd probably find No. 322

13

would apply to that.  That's about it.1
MR. HAARLOW:  Agree.2
MS. SALMON:  The next house on our list3

is 42 South Quincy Street.  This is the house4
that I mentioned earlier where we got the5
additional information from the historical6
society after.7

It is believed that this is a Sears8
home.  We did find the original permit but it's9
a little unclear and where you see kind of who06:50PM 10
the architect is it's kind of dashed out which11
makes you kind of think that it's some sort of12
catalog home and we did include some preliminary13
information in the packet that it could be some14
sort of modification of the Crescent home.15
There's some examples here.16

From the 1999 survey though it was17
considered significant and it was built in 192718
a Craftsman style.  There's been a couple of19
exterior changes where they added a second floor06:51PM 20
rear building addition in 2015 and some21
additional information was provided by the22
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homeowner.1
The homeowner actually got in2

contact and that's why there's so many great3
photos in here where you can see some of the4
original architectural details, but the5
homeowner got in contact with some of the family6
that lived here in the '40s and '50s.  So you7
can see they provided some great old photos8
where a lot of the side of the house from the9
'40s have not really been altered that much.  So06:51PM 10
it's in pretty good shape.11

MS. BARCLAY:  3 again.12
MR. PRISBY:  I agree with 3.  It's a13

good example of that style of architecture.14
MS. SALMON:  Yes.  Very unique house.15

Okay.16
The next house up for consideration17

is 200 Ravine Road.  This is one of the really18
interesting, if you haven't had a chance to read19
it, reports that were put together by the06:52PM 20
Hinsdale Historical Society because they pulled21
up a lot of information on some of the former22

15

owners, former tenants, residents that lived1
here.2

The house was considered3
significant and potentially significant per past4
surveys and it's thought that it was built in5
the 1925, kind of a Tudor Revival Craftsman6
style, and it's out of scope right now but7
there's kind of another very similar unique home8
just next door.  I don't know if they have the9
same architect but they kind of have the similar06:52PM 10
stucco style.11

There was a rear and side addition12
constructed in 1982 for this house.  And like I13
said, this was what the historical society was14
able to dig up.  The house was once the former15
residence of Frances Elizabeth Coates; she was16
an opera singer.  She was heavily involved in a17
lot of civic and musical organizations in18
Chicago but also in Hinsdale and she has ties to19
Earnest Hemingway.06:53PM 20

There was some really great21
articles in here where she had some love letter22

16

connections with him when she was younger, so1
kind of a very interesting digging up.2

And if you go to the Hinsdale3
Historical Society's website, they did put a4
blog post together on her and you can actually5
go listen to her opera singing in some of the6
links that we have online.  I couldn't include7
that in the packet.8

MR. PRISBY:  It's a neat house.9
MR. HAARLOW:  Perhaps criterion No. 506:54PM 10

applies if there's significance for local11
culture.12

MR. PRISBY:  Think you could also argue13
2.14

MR. HAARLOW:  2 might be a better one.15
MR. PRISBY:  And 3.16
MS. SALMON:  So 2, 3 and 5.17

Any other comments?18
(No response.)19
All right.  So the next house on06:54PM 20

our list is 565 North Washington Street.  We21
believe this house was constructed in 1922.22

17

It's a single-family home in the R-4 district.1
We were able to find less2

documentation on this house but it clearly3
features a Colonial Revival style.  The major4
changes that we've seen is that there's some5
dormers added to the front in 1985 and a rear6
addition was constructed in 1989.  The rear7
addition you can't see it in the photos but does8
well match the building and we were able to find9
some records but not as much on this property.06:55PM 10

MR. PRISBY:  Pretty much No. 3.  That's11
about it.12

MS. SALMON:  No. 3.  There's no other13
comments.14

The last house up for inclusion on15
our list is 615 South Washington Street.  It's a16
single-family home in R-4 district.  We believe17
it was constructed around 1895, so it's one of18
the older homes that still stands today.  It's19
considered significant per our 199906:56PM 20
Reconnaissance Survey and the Robbins Park II21
survey.22
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It has some exterior changes1
minimal that were made, like a small rear2
building addition in 2010 that we won't see in3
the photos here although we have some of the4
plans for.  And per the past historic surveys5
from 2007, it does mention that there may have6
been some alterations to the front porch7
railing.8

But it is one of our oldest houses.9
It's been classified as having some Queen Anne06:56PM 10
details and a Gable front cottage style.  So11
there was some information here included from12
the Robbins Park Survey and we did find it on13
Sandborn map and interestingly, this property14
still does not have a garage even as it did in15
1895.16

MR. PRISBY:  No. 3 again.17
MS. SALMON:  All right.18

So with that, that concludes all19
the seven properties unless there's any final06:57PM 20
questions or comments.21

There's no members of the public22

19

here so we can move forward with any additional1
comments and then close the Public Hearing and2
then have a motion.3

CHAIRMAN BOHNEN:  Anybody have anything4
else to say?5

(No response.)6
Can we have a motion to close the7

Public Hearing.8
MR. ELDER:  I'll move we close the9

Public Hearing.06:57PM 10
CHAIRMAN BOHNEN:  Second, please.11
MR. HAARLOW:  Second.12
CHAIRMAN BOHNEN:  Roll call vote.13
MS. SALMON:  Commissioner Barclay?14

         MS. BARCLAY:  Aye.15
MS. SALMON:  Commissioner Haarlow?16
MR. HAARLOW:  Aye.17
MS. SALMON:  Commissioner Prisby?18

         MR. PRISBY:  Aye.19
         MS. SALMON:  Commissioner Elder?20
         MR. ELDER:  Aye.21
         MS. SALMON:  Chairman Bohnen?22

20

CHAIRMAN BOHNEN:  Aye.1
Okay.  Seeing nobody here from the2

public, we will move to any new business.3
         MS. SALMON:  Oh, I think we still need4
a motion to recommend it to the village board.5
         MR. PRISBY:  You need a motion?  Is6
that what you are looking for?7

CHAIRMAN BOHNEN:  Yes, we need a motion8
to recommend to the village board.9

MR. PRISBY:  Okay.  I will move to10
recommend to the village board approval of the11
following properties for inclusion on the12
historically significant structures property13
list in the historic overlay district under Case14
HPC-4-2024.  The addresses are:  546 North15
County Line Road, 4 East Fifth Street, 122 North16
Park Avenue, 42 South Quincy Street, 200 Ravine17
Road, 565 North Washington Street and 615 South18
Washington Street.19

CHAIRMAN BOHNEN:  Second, please.20
MR. ELDER:  Second.21
CHAIRMAN BOHNEN:  Roll call vote,22

21

please.1
MS. SALMON:  Commissioner Barclay?2

         MS. BARCLAY:  Aye.3
MS. SALMON:  Commissioner Haarlow?4
MR. HAARLOW:  Aye.5
MS. SALMON:  Commissioner Prisby?6

         MR. PRISBY:  Aye.7
         MS. SALMON:  Commissioner Elder?8
         MR. ELDER:  Aye.9
         MS. SALMON:  Chairman Bohnen?10

CHAIRMAN BOHNEN:  Aye.11
Now our Public Hearing is closed.12

                  (WHICH, were all of the13
                   proceedings had, evidence14
                   offered or received in the15
                   above entitled cause.)16

17
18
19
20
21
22
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STATE OF ILLINOIS )
                  )  ss:
COUNTY OF DU PAGE )

              I, KATHLEEN W. BONO, Certified
Shorthand Reporter, Notary Public in and for the
County DuPage, State of Illinois, do hereby
certify that previous to the commencement of the
examination and testimony of the various
witnesses herein, they were duly sworn by me to
testify the truth in relation to the matters
pertaining hereto; that the testimony given by
said witnesses was reduced to writing by means
of shorthand and thereafter transcribed into
typewritten form; and that the foregoing is a
true, correct and complete transcript of my
shorthand notes so taken aforesaid.
              IN WITNESS WHEREOF I have hereunto
set my hand and affix my electronic signature
this 11th day of March, A.D. 2024.

                       _________________________
                       KATHLEEN W. BONO
                       C.S.R. No. 84-1423
                       Notary Public, DuPage County
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DATE:   April 19, 2024 

TO:   Chairman Bohnen and Historic Preservation Commissioners 

CC:  Kathleen A. Gargano, Village Manager 
Robb McGinnis, Director of Community Development/Building Commissioner 

FROM:   Bethany Salmon, Village Planner 

RE:  Case HPC-5-2024 / A-11-2024 – 302 S. Grant Street – Hinsdale Historical Society – Certificate of 
Appropriateness for a Designated Local Landmark and a Sign Permit Review to allow for 
Modifications to the Existing Ground Sign for Immanuel Hall  

FOR: April 23, 2024 Historic Preservation Commission Special Meeting 
___________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
SUMMARY 

The Village of Hinsdale has received a Certificate of Appropriateness (COA) application and Sign Permit Review 
application from the Hinsdale Historical Society requesting approval to install a new sign face on the existing 
ground sign for Immanuel Hall located at 302 S. Grant Street.  
 
The subject property is used as a membership organization / historic club or society (SIC 8699) by the Hinsdale 
Historical Society and is located in the IB Institutional Buildings District. 
 
Per Section 14-5-1(A) of the Village Code, no alterations shall be allowed and no permits shall be issued for any 
physical modification to signage of a designated landmark without the prior issuance of a Certificate of 
Appropriateness by the Historic Preservation Commission. Per Section 11-607(D) of the Zoning Code, the Plan 
Commission shall review sign permit applications.  
 
BACKGROUND 

On February 5, 2002 by Ordinance No. O2002-06, the Village Board approved Immanuel Hall as a designated 
historic landmark. The building is classified as Significant according to the 1999 Reconnaissance Survey and 2011 
Town of Hinsdale Survey. The one-story building was constructed in 1900 in the Late Gothic Revival style. The 
building was originally used as a church by a small German immigrant congregation. In March 2001, the Hinsdale 
Historical Society took ownership of the property and has operated the historical society and archives out of the 
building since that time.  
 
The building was listed was listed on the National Register of Historic Places on February 9, 2001. 
 
The building was approved for inclusion on the Historically Significant Structures List on June 13, 2023 by 
Ordinance No, O2023-13. 
 
The property is located in the IB Institutional Building District and is surrounded by single-family homes to the 
north, south, east, and west in the R-4 Single Family Residential District. Please note that the attached zoning map 
is incorrect. The Village Board approved the rezoning of the property to the IB District on April 2, 2001, by 
Ordinance No. O2001-19. 
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              MEMORANDUM 

The following ordinances and approvals have been granted for this property: 
• Ordinance No. O2001-19 – 04/03/01 – Ordinance Granting a Map Amendment from the R-4 Single-Family 

Residential District to the IB Institutional Buildings District for 302 S. Grant Street 
• Ordinance No. O2001-20 – 04/03/01 – Ordinance Amending the Zoning Code Regarding the IB Institutional 

Buildings District Requirements for Certain Historic Structures (To allow for waivers to the code for parking, 
loading, and various bulk zoning requirements) 

• Ordinance No. O2001-21 – 04/03/01 – Ordinance Granting a Special Use Permit for the Hinsdale Historical 
Society to operate a membership organization / historic club or society (SIC 8699) at 302 S. Grant Street 

• Ordinance No. O2002-06 – 02/05/02 – Ordinance Designating 302 S. Grant Street (Immanuel Hall) as an 
Historic Landmark  

• Ordinance No. O2004-41 – 08/17/04 – Ordinance Approving a Site Plan and an Exterior Appearance Plan to 
allow for a New Front Entrance at 302 S. Grant Street  

• Variation V-10-05 – 3/15/2006 – Variation to allow for a reduction to the corner side setback under Section 
7-310.C from 35’ to 13’-¼” for a proposed addition onto the rear west side of the existing building and to 
eliminate a required parking space required under Section 9-104.E  

• Ordinance No. O2006-13 – 03/07/06 – Ordinance Amending Hinsdale Ordinance No. O2001-21 and Amending 
the Special Use Permit, Site Plans, and Exterior Appearance Plans for Immanuel Hall at 302 S. Grant Street to 
allow for a two-story, 300 square foot building addition and other site improvements 

 
REQUEST AND ANALYSIS 

The applicant is requesting approval to install a new sign face on the existing ground sign located at the northeast 
corner of the site, near the intersection of Grant Street and Third Street. No structural changes are proposed to 
the existing black metal posts. The existing posts will be re-painted and only the sign cabinet will be replaced. 
  
The proposed non-illuminated sign face will measure 33.5” tall and 60” wide, with a sign face area of 13.95 square 
feet. The sign face will consist of black metal vinyl text on a white lexan background with a black border. A portion 
of the ground sign includes a bulletin board sign, measuring 15.33” tall and 45.5” wide, with an overall area of 4.8 
square feet. Three lines of insertable text with letters measuring 4” tall will fit within the bulletin board area. The 
overall height of the sign measures 4’ tall.  
 
Per Section 9-106(J), in the IB District, ground signs shall not exceed 8 feet in height and may have a maximum 
gross surface area of a 50 square feet per sign face with no more than 2 faces per sign. Bulletin board signs are 
considered a permit-exempt sign and are counted separately from the overall square footage of the ground sign. 
Bulletin board signs are allowed on no more than one wall or ground sign per zoning lot, are limited to a maximum 
sign face area of 15 square feet, and are permitted only in connection with public, religious, and civic institutions. 
Bulletin board sign shall be more than 4 feet in height and the supporting structure on which a bulletin board sign 
is located shall be no more than 8 feet in height. 
 
As proposed, the ground sign meets the size requirements per the Zoning Code. 
 
PROCESS 

Certificate of Appropriateness - Pursuant to Title 14, Section 14-5-1(A), no alteration shall be allowed to, and no 
permits shall be issued for, the alteration, demolition, signage, or any other physical modifications of the exterior 
architectural appearance of a designated landmark without the prior issuance of a Certificate of Appropriateness.  
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Applications for a Certificate of Appropriateness shall conform to the applicable standards set forth in Village Code 
Title 14, Section 14-5-2, which are attached for review. The review process and decisions of the Historic 
Preservation Commission related to a Certificate of Appropriateness for a Landmark are listed in Title 14, Section 
14-5-4 and Section 14-5-5.  
 
Sign Permit Review - Per Section 11-607(D) and the nature of the request, this application shall be reviewed and 
approved by the Plan Commission and does not require public notification. Plan Commission maintains final 
authority on signage with no further action required by the Board of Trustees. Per Section 11-607(E), no sign 
permit shall be granted pursuant to this section unless the applicant shall establish that: 
1. Visual Compatibility: The proposed sign will be visually compatible with the building on which the sign is 

proposed to be located and surrounding buildings and structures in terms of height, size, proportion, scale, 
materials, texture, colors, and shapes. 

2. Quality of Design and Construction: The proposed sign will be constructed and maintained with a design and 
materials of high quality and good relationship with the design and character of the neighborhood. 

3. Appropriateness to Activity: The proposed sign is appropriate to and necessary for the activity to which it 
pertains. 

4. Appropriateness to Site: The proposed sign will be appropriate to its location in terms of design, landscaping, 
and orientation on the site, and will not create a hazard to pedestrian or vehicular traffic, detract from the 
value or enjoyment of neighboring properties, or unduly increase the number of signs in the area. 

 
ATTACHMENTS 

1. Zoning Map and Project Location 
2. Aerial View  
3. Birds Eye View 
4. Street View 
5. Certificate of Appropriateness Review Criteria - Village Code Title 14, Section 14-5-2  
6. Historically Significant Structures Property Information / Ordinance No. O2001-6 – Landmark Designation 

Ordinance  
7. Application for Certificate of Appropriateness, Sign Permit, and Exhibits 
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Aerial View – 302 S. Grant Street 
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Birds Eye View – 302 S. Grant Street 
 

 

 
 
 
 



Birds Eye View – 302 S. Grant Street 
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Birds Eye View – 302 S. Grant Street 
 

 

 



Street View – 302 S. Grant Street 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 



CERTIFICATE OF APPROPRIATENESS REVIEW CRITERIA  
VILLAGE CODE TITLE 14, SECTION 14-5-2 
 
14-5-2: CRITERIA: 

All applications for a certificate of appropriateness shall conform to the applicable standards in this 
section. 
 
A. General Standards: 

1. Alterations that do not affect any essential architectural or historic features of a structure or 
building as viewed from a public or private street ordinarily should be permitted. 

2. The distinguishing original qualities or character of a structure, building, or site and its 
environment should not be destroyed. No alteration or demolition of any historic material or 
distinctive architectural feature should be permitted except when necessary to assure an 
economically viable use of a site. 

3. All structures, buildings, sites, and areas should be recognized as products of their own time. 
Alterations that have no historical basis and that seek to create an earlier appearance than the 
true age of the property are discouraged. 

4. Changes that may have taken place in the course of time are evidence of the history and 
development of a structure, building, or site and its environment. These changes may have 
acquired significance in their own right, and this significance should be recognized and 
respected when dealing with a specific architectural period. 

5. Distinctive stylistic features or examples of skilled craftsmanship that characterize a structure, 
building, site, or area should ordinarily be maintained and preserved. 

6. Deteriorated architectural features should be repaired rather than replaced, whenever possible. 
In the event replacement is necessary, the new material should match the material being 
replaced in composition, design, color, texture, and other visual qualities. Repair or replacement 
of missing architectural features should be based on accurate duplications of features, 
substantiated by historic, physical, or pictorial evidence rather than on conjectural designs or the 
availability of different architectural elements from other buildings or structures. 

7. The surface cleaning of structures and buildings should be undertaken with the gentlest means 
possible. Sandblasting and other cleaning methods that will damage the structures and 
buildings should be avoided. 

8. New structures or buildings, or alterations to sites should not be discouraged when such 
structures or alterations do not destroy significant historical or architectural features and are 
compatible with the size, scale, color, material, and character of the site, neighborhood, or 
environment. 

9. Whenever possible, new structures or buildings, or alterations to the existing conditions of sites 
should be done in such a manner that, if such new structures or alterations were to be removed 
in the future, the essential form and integrity of the original structure, building, site, or area 
would be unimpaired. 

10. Any permitted alteration or demolition should promote the purposes of this Title and general 
welfare of the Village and its residents. 

11. Demolition should not be permitted if a structure, building, or site is economically viable in its 
present condition or could be economically viable after completion of appropriate alterations, 
even if demolition would permit a more profitable use of such site. 
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B. Design Standards: 

1. Height: The height of a landmark after alteration should be compatible with the height of the 
original landmark. The height of a structure or building and adjacent open spaces after any 
proposed alteration or construction within an historic district should be compatible with the style 
and character of the structure or building and with surrounding structures and buildings in an 
historic district. 

2. Relationship Between Mass And Open Space: The relationship between a landmark and 
adjacent open spaces after its alteration should be compatible with such relationship prior to 
such alteration. The relationship between a structure or building and adjacent open spaces after 
alteration within an historic district should be compatible with the relationship between 
surrounding structures, buildings and adjacent open spaces within such historic district. 

3. Relationship Among Height, Width And Scale: The relationship among the height, width, and 
scale of a landmark after alteration should be compatible with such relationship prior to such 
alteration. The relationship among height, width, and scale of a structure or building after an 
alteration within an historic district should be compatible with the relationship among height, 
width, and scale of surrounding structures and buildings within such historic district. 

4. Directional Expression: The directional expressions of a landmark after alteration, whether its 
vertical or horizontal positioning, should be compatible with the directional expression of the 
original landmark. The directional expression of a structure or building after alteration within an 
historic district should be compatible with the directional expression of surrounding structures 
and buildings within such historic district. 

5. Roof Shape: The roof shape of a landmark after alteration should be compatible with the roof 
shape of the original landmark. The roof shape of a structure, building, or object after alteration 
within an historic district should be compatible with the roof shape of surrounding structures and 
buildings within such historic district. 

6. Architectural Details, General Designs, Materials, Textures, And Colors: The architectural 
details, general design, materials, textures, and colors of a landmark after alteration should be 
compatible with the architectural details, general design, materials, textures, and colors of the 
original landmark. The architectural details, general design, materials, textures, and colors of a 
structure or building after alteration within an historic district should be compatible with the 
architectural details, general design, materials, textures, and colors of surrounding structures 
and buildings within such historic district. 

7. Landscape And Appurtenances: The landscape and appurtenances, including without limitation 
signs, fences, accessory structures, and pavings, of a landmark after alteration should be 
compatible with the landscape and appurtenances of the original landmark. The landscape and 
appurtenances of a structure or building after alteration within an historic district should be 
compatible with the landscape and appurtenances of surrounding structures and buildings 
within such historic district. 

8. Construction: New construction in an historic district should be compatible with the architectural 
styles, design standards and streetscapes within such historic districts. 

 

C. Additional Standards: In addition to the foregoing standards, the commission may consider the 
secretary of the interior's standards for rehabilitation guidelines for rehabilitating historic buildings 
(revised 1983), and any amendments thereto, in reviewing any application under this section.  
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HISTORICALLY SIGNIFICANT STRUCTURES PROPERTY LIST  

PROPERTY INFORMATION SHEET 
 

Address 
302 S. Grant Street 

 

County 
DuPage 

PIN / Parcel Number 
09-12-112-016 

Zoning District 
R-4 Single Family Zoning District 

Land Use 
Hinsdale Historical Society 

Historic Name 
Immanuel Evangelical Church / 
Immanuel Hall 

Architect 
N/A 

Date Constructed 
1900 

Architectural Style 
Gothic Revival 

Past Historic Surveys / Historic Significance 
• Designated Local Landmark (Ord. No. O2002-06) 
• Reconnaissance Survey (1999) – Significant 
• Town of  Hinsdale Survey (2001) – Significant 
• Listed on the National Register of Historic Places (2001) 

Additional Photos 

 









The three churches founded in the survey area in the la.tc 1800s all originated as immigrant churches. 
Two were Gennan and one Swedish. The first Lutheran congregation, Zion Lutheran, was founded 
in 1888 by German families who had been meeting loosely since 1886. They purchased a lot at 
Second and Vine streets U111t same year and constructed their first church. The congregation affiliated 
with the Missouri Lutheran Synod in 1891 and began offering services in English in 1908. lnJ9ll, 
the lot at 204 S. Grant Street was purchased, and the existing church was completed in 1915. 
William Soltwisch is cited as I.he builder [Balckcn, l 05], as is cider and local carpenter, Fred Hucnke. 
Hucnke lived nearby al 135 S. Madison Street, a house11e also built. The church was enlarged and 
remodeled in the west end in 1952. With the continued growth of the congregation, the present Zion 
Lutheran School was built at 125 S. Vine Street in 1931, while the old church building was moved 
ro the rear of the lot. An addition was built to the school in the 1960s and it continues to operate 
today as one of only three private schools in the village. 

Other German.immigrants, particnlarly lhose_from theprovinceofHanover, where Low German was 
spoken, chose to join another congregation, St. John's EvangelicaJ Church in Fullers burg. After a 
dispute among members of this congregation, some of the Hinsdale members organized in I 898 as 
the "Deutsch Evangelisch Lutherische lmmannels Germeinde." In 1900 they began construction of 
the Immanuel Evangelical Church at 302 S. Grant Street. William Vomsand was the general 
contractor and other members of the congregation worked as carpenters. In 1908 a two-story frame 
house was built behind lhe church as a parsonage and meeting hall, and in U1e l950s a one-story 
brick building was constructed on the lot immediately south. The church merged with the 
Congregational Church in 1947 and became the United Church of Christ. The result was a 
congregation too large for the historic building in a congested area The congregation relocated and 
sold the property to the Tllinois Conference of the United Church of Christ in 1964. It was later 
bought and occupied by the Montessori School of Hinsdale from 1982 through l 999. Threatened 
wiU1 demolition, the property was purchased by the Village of Hinsdale in 1999 with the intention 
of deeding itto the Hinsdale Historical Society for public use. The parsonage and religious education 
bui )ding were demolished and the church structure was listed on the National Register of Historic 
Places in 2000 [NRnomination, 12-14]. 

The third church existing today in the Town of Hinsdale survey area is the EvangelicaJ Mission 
Covenant Church (now HinsdaJe Evangelical Covenant Church). Lt was founded on February 6, I 892 
as the Swedish Evangelical Bethel Church to serve a Swedish immigrant congregation. Shortly afler, 
in November 1892, the congregation built a frame church at LS E. Fourth Street that was commonly 
referred to as the "Swede's Church." Services were held in Swedish until 1935, and the church 
became a center for Scandinavian families within Hinsdale in the early 20'h century. Many of its 
early members were in the construction trades or served as dome-sties in the homes of prosperous 
business and professional people. The Swedish Evangelical Bethel Church became the Evangelical 
Mission Covenant ChurchofHinsdale in 1922, soon after affiliating itself with the Covenant Church 
in America. In the same year, the congregation purchased the comer lot at Fourth and Garfield 
Street, the site of their present church. The current church was buill in 1930 at 412 S. Garfield 
Avenue al a cost ofS41,414, and was dedicated on March 15, 1931. Tn 1972 U1e preschool was built 
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302 South Grant Street – Membership Organization Building 
 

 
 
On February 5, 2002 the Village Board of Trustees adopted an ordinance that designated the 
property at 302 South Grant Street (known as Immanuel Hall or the former Immanuel 
Evangelical Church) as an Historic Landmark.  Application to landmark the 1900 structure was 
made by the Hinsdale Historical Society. 
 
This single-story wood frame and clad building was constructed in 1900 in the Late Gothic 
Revival style, of a vernacular type known as “carpenter Gothic.”   Major changes to the exterior 
include the digging of a full basement in 1920, and the replacement of the original roof, front 
doors, front steps, windows and decoration atop the spire.  It is the only surviving, almost 
originally intact, building of its type in Hinsdale, and one of the few in the region.  It was 
constructed by skilled German immigrant tradesmen, who donated their labor, as members of 
the, founding German speaking congregation.  They were among Hinsdale’s early residents at a 
time when the Village was experiencing significant development. 
 
The building was first used for 64 years as a religious, instructional and society center by a 
small, close-knit German congregation, the second use for 18 years as the state headquarters 
for the Illinois Conference of United Church of Christ.  Its third use for 17 years was as a 
Montessori School, until its sale by private parties to the Village of Hinsdale in June 1999 – 
made possible through the cooperation of the Village, Hinsdale Historical Society, Illinois 
Historic Preservation Agency and a grant from the State of Illinois – in order to save the building 
from likely demolition.  In addition the building was designated by ordinance the Village’s first 
“historic and community landmark” on June 1, 1999, and it was listed on the National Register of 
Historic Places on February 9, 2001.  In March 2001, the Hinsdale Historical Society took 
ownership of the property.  The preservation of the building has come to symbolize the Village’s 
present commitment to historic preservation. 
 



 
Date unknown.  Photograph courtesy of Hinsdale Historical Society. 
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Name: ___________________________________ 
Address: _________________________________ 
City/Zip: _________________________________ 
Phone/Fax: (___) ___________/______________ 
E-Mail: __________________________________ 
Contact Name: ___________________________ 
 

Applicant 

Name: ___________________________________ 
Address: _________________________________ 
City/Zip: _________________________________ 
Phone/Fax: (___) ___________/______________ 
E-Mail: __________________________________ 
Contact Name: ___________________________ 
 

Contractor 

   Sign Information:  
Overall Size (Square Feet): _______  ( ____ x _____ ) 

Overall Height from Grade: _____________ Ft. 

Proposed Colors (Maximum of Three Colors): 

X __________________ 

Y ___________________ 

Z ___________________ 

 

 

Site Information: 
Lot/Street Frontage: _______________________ 

Building/Tenant Frontage: __________________ 

Existing Sign Information: 

Business Name: __________________________ 

Size of Sign: _______________ Square Feet  
Business Name: __________________________ 

Size of Sign: _______________ Square Feet  
 

 
 

I hereby acknowledge that I have read this application and the attached instruction sheet and state that it is correct 
and agree to comply with all Village of Hinsdale Ordinances. 
 
________________________________  __________________________________ 
Signature of Applicant    Date 
 
________________________________  __________________________________ 
Signature of Building Owner    Date 
 
FOR OFFICE USE ONLY – DO NOT WRITE BELOW THIS LINE 
  
Total square footage: __________________ x $4.00 = ________ (Minimum $75.00) 
 
Plan Commission Approval Date: ___________  Administrative Approval Date: ___________ 
 
 

ADDRESS OF SIGN LOCATION:      

ZONING DISTRICT: 

SIGN TYPE:  

ILLUMINATION   

  

   

Hinsdale Historical Society; Immanuel Hall 

302 S Grant St 

Hinsdale, 60522

630 984 0101

2112@fastsigns.com

Rachel Wolnik

Fastsigns Downers Grove 

408 75th St 

Downers Grove, 60516

630 984 0101

2112@fastsigns.com

Rachel Wolnik

60” 33.5”13.95

3.95 ft

Black

White 

85.5’

Immanuel Hall

28.25

20

Alexis Braden (HHS trustee on behalf of HHS).         2/28/24

0 0

IB Institutional Buildings

Rachel Wolnik

Rachel Wolnik
Post & Panel Sign 

Rachel Wolnik

Rachel Wolnik

Rachel Wolnik
Not Illuminated

Rachel Wolnik

Rachel Wolnik
3/4/24

Rachel Wolnik

Rachel Wolnik

Rachel Wolnik

Rachel Wolnik

Rachel Wolnik

Rachel Wolnik
Ground

Rachel Wolnik

Rachel Wolnik
302 S Grant St, Hinsdale IL 60522











 

I hereby authorize Fastsigns Downers Grove to replace the existing face on the exterior sign for 
Immanuel Hall, located at 302 S Grant St, Hinsdale, IL, 60522. Design & Plans for this 
replacement are approved and authorized on Spec Sheet #12152 given by Fastsigns Downers 
Grove.  

Landlord or Agent Signature ____________________________________ 

Date ___________________________________

Alexis Braden
Alexis Braden, HHS trustee on behalf of HHS

Alexis Braden
March 4, 2024







 
AGENDA ITEM #_____ 

HISTORIC PRESERVATION COMMISSION  
MEMORANDUM 

4b 

DATE: April 19, 2024 

TO:  Chairman Bohnen and Historic Preservation Commissioners 

CC: Kathleen A. Gargano, Village Manager 
Robb McGinnis, Director of Community Development/Building Commissioner 

FROM:   Bethany Salmon, Village Planner  

RE:  Case A-10-2024 – Sign Permit Review – 5 E. First Street – The Salon by David and William / 
Brow Paradiso – Installation of Two (2) Wall Signs 

FOR:  April 23, 2024 Historic Preservation Commission Special Meeting 
 
 
SUMMARY 

The Village of Hinsdale received a sign permit application from Brow Paradiso / The Salon by David and 
William requesting approval to install two (2) new wall signs for the businesses located in a single tenant 
space at 5 E. First Street. The existing two-story multi-tenant building is located in the B-2 Central Business 
District and the Downtown Historic District. 
 
Brow Paradiso is a sub-tenant inside The Salon by David and William, both of which are classified as beauty 
salons.  
 
REQUEST AND ANALYSIS 

The applicant is requesting to install two (2) non-illuminated wall signs above the two entrance doors for 
each business within the tenant space facing First Street. The wall signs are identical in size and have 
different sign copy for each business. The signs will measure 1’-6” tall and 4’-½’” wide, with an overall sign 
face area of 6.06 square feet each. The combined signage face area for both signs is 12.12 square feet.   
 
Both signs consist of a white aluminum background with a black border, black routed dimensional acrylic 
primary letters, and black vinyl secondary tagline letters. The sign for Brow Paradiso includes a digitally 
printed logo in black, white, and blue colors.  
 
The two (2) existing wall signs and one (1) permanent window sign will be removed for allow for the two 
(2) new wall signs.  
 
Per Section 9-106(J), in the B-2 District, two (2) awning valance, canopy valance, wall, or permanent 
window signs are allowed per user. Brow Paradiso is a sub-tenant without its own occupancy, therefore, 
the overall tenant spaces is allowed two (2) signs. A maximum gross surface area of all awning valance, 
canopy valance, wall, and permanent window signs for the entire building shall not exceed the greater of: 
1) one square foot per foot of building frontage, up to a maximum of one hundred (100) square feet, or 
2) twenty five (25) square feet for each business that has a separate ground level principal entrance 
directly to the outside of the building onto a street, alley, courtyard, or parking lot.  
 
In this case, the tenant space is afforded 25 square feet. The proposed wall sign is under the maximum 25 
square feet of total sign face area allowed for the tenant space. 
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PROCESS 

Per Section 11-607(D), sign permit applications shall be reviewed and approved by the Plan Commission 
and do not require public notification. Per Village Code Section 14-5-1(B), the Historic Preservation 
Commission shall review signage in the Historic District. The final decision of the Historic Preservation 
Commission shall be advisory only.  

The Plan Commission maintains final authority on signage with no further action required by the Board of 
Trustees. Per Section 11-607(E), no sign permit shall be granted pursuant to this section unless the 
applicant shall establish that: 

1. Visual Compatibility: The proposed sign will be visually compatible with the building on which the 
sign is proposed to be located and surrounding buildings and structures in terms of height, size, 
proportion, scale, materials, texture, colors, and shapes. 

2. Quality of Design and Construction: The proposed sign will be constructed and maintained with a 
design and materials of high quality and good relationship with the design and character of the 
neighborhood. 

3. Appropriateness to Activity: The proposed sign is appropriate to and necessary for the activity to 
which it pertains. 

4. Appropriateness to Site: The proposed sign will be appropriate to its location in terms of design, 
landscaping, and orientation on the site, and will not create a hazard to pedestrian or vehicular 
traffic, detract from the value or enjoyment of neighboring properties, or unduly increase the 
number of signs in the area. 

 
Attachments 

1. Zoning Map and Project Location 
2. Aerial View  
3. Birds Eye View  
4. Street View  
5. Sign Application and Exhibits 
 



Village of Hinsdale Zoning Map and Project Location  
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Aerial View – 5 E. First Street  
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Birds Eye View – 5 E. First Street 
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Street View – 5 E. First Street 
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HISTORIC PRESERVATION COMMISSION  
MEMORANDUM 
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DATE:   April 19, 2024 

TO:   Chairman Bohnen and Historic Preservation Commissioners 

CC:  Kathleen A. Gargano, Village Manager 
Robb McGinnis, Director of Community Development/Building Commissioner 

FROM:   Bethany Salmon, Village Planner 

RE: Case HPC-6-2024 – 317 E. First Street – Preservation Incentive for a Historically Significant 
Structures Property – Request for Alternative Bulk Zoning Regulations, Building Permit Fee 
Waiver, Expedited Processing, Property Tax Rebate, and Matching Grant – Construction of Rear 
Addition and Porte Cochere, Side Porch, and Detached Garage  

FOR: April 23, 2024 Historic Preservation Commission Special Meeting 

___________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
SUMMARY 

The Village of Hinsdale received a Preservation Incentive application from Michael Abraham Architecture 
requesting approval of alternative zoning regulations, a building permit fee waiver, expedited processing, a 
property tax rebate, and matching grant to allow for the construction of a rear addition and porte cochere, the 
expansion of the existing porch, and the construction of a new detached garage at 317 E. First Street. The property 
owner listed on the application is Peter Barre and Erin Kelley. 
 
Per the Village Code, approval of a Preservation Incentive Certificate is required prior to undertaking any project 
utilizing Preservation Incentives and that involves any exterior alterations, additions, rehabilitation, restoration or 
relocation of or to any structure on a property on the Historically Significant Structures Property List.  Applications 
for Preservation Incentives shall conform to the applicable standards and review process set forth in Village Code 
Title 14, Section 14-7-4 and Section 14-7-5.  
 
BACKGROUND 

The existing single-family home at 317 E. First Street was approved for inclusion on the Historically Significant 
Structures Property List on March 16, 2023 by Ordinance No. O2023-06.  
 
The subject property is located in the R-1 Single Family Residential District and is surrounded by single-family 
homes to the south, east and west in the R-1 Single Family Residential District and single-family homes to the 
north in the R-4 Single Family Residential District.  
 
The building was constructed in 1888 and features Queen Anne style. The building is classified as a Contributing 
Structure according to the 2002 Robbins Park I Survey and Significant / Historically Significant according to the 
1999 Reconnaissance Survey.  
 
REQUEST AND ANALYSIS 

The applicant requests approval of a Preservation Incentive application for alternative zoning regulations, a 
building permit fee waiver, expedited processing, a property tax rebate, and matching grant to allow for an 
addition and porte cochere to be constructed on the rear of the house, the expansion of the existing porch on the 
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interior side of the house, and the construction of a new detached garage to the rear of the house at 317 E. First 
Street. The existing 1-story detached garage located to the north of the house will be demolished as part of this 
project. A site plan, building elevations, floor plans, plat of survey, and photos of the existing home have been 
submitted for review.   
 
Exterior Improvements - A one-story addition for a new mudroom and a porte cochere are proposed on the north 
rear elevation of the house. The existing porch on the interior west side of the house will also be expanded. The 
third floor attic space will be converted into a bedroom, office, and bathroom, which will entail three dormers on 
the east and west elevations. The existing detached garage will be demolished and relocated to the northwest 
corner of the site. The entire house will be re-painted white as part of this project.  
 
The additions are in keeping with the existing architectural style and materials of the existing house. Details 
incorporated into the design of the additions include matching decorative trim and brackets, porch balustrades 
and skirting, clapboard siding, and roofing.  
 
A detailed description of the changes to the elevations are provided below: 

• South Elevation (Front) - The expanded porch on the west elevation as well as the new dormers on the east 
and west elevations are visible on the south elevation. Existing windows will be removed within the expanded 
porch and replaced with white clad sliding patio doors.  

• West Elevation (Interior Side) - The existing one-story porch will be expanded and will be constructed of 
matching building materials, including a new staircase, gray asphalt roofing, balustrades, decorative trim and 
brackets, and porch skirting. A small window will be removed and a new second floor dormer with a double-
hung window is proposed to accommodate an interior staircase to the third floor. The porte cohere and rear 
addition are both visible from this elevation.  

• North Elevation (Rear) - Two windows and the existing entrance door will be removed from the north 
elevation. The porte cochere and rear building addition will be constructed of matching building materials, 
including gray asphalt roofing, and decorative supporting columns, trim, and brackets. The rear addition 
includes a new entrance door, siding to match the existing siding, horizontal tongue and groove siding at the 
base, four (4) double-hung windows to match the windows on the existing house 

• East Elevation (Corner Side) - Two third-floor formers with windows will be installed to serve the finished attic 
space. Two second-floor double-hung windows will be replaced with new matching double-hung windows. 
The porte cohere and rear addition are both visible from this elevation. 

• Detached Garage - The existing two-car detached garage is not historic and will be demolished to allow for 
the construction of the porte cohere and rear addition. A new detached garage will be located toward the 
northwest corner of the site and consists of white siding, a decorative bracket in the gable, gray asphalt 
shingles, and double-hung windows to match the house.  

 
The applicant is requesting to reduce the north rear yard setback to 15’-½” (from 25’ per the R-1 District 
regulations) and reduce the west interior side yard to 10’ (from 14’ per the R-1 District regulations). Alternative 
bulk zoning regulations listed in Section 8-205 of the Zoning Code allow for a rear yard setback of 15’ and an 
interior side yard setback of 10’, for properties in the R-1 District subject to approval of a Preservation Incentive 
Certificate by the Historic Preservation Commission. The proposed plan meets all other bulk zoning requirements. 
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Cost Estimate for Eligible Exterior Work - A cost estimate for major eligible exterior improvements has been 
provided for review and is included below. The cost estimate does not include construction costs for the accessory 
detached garage or costs that are not eligible per the program requirements. 

Exterior Work Cost Estimate 
Rough Carpentry – Labors and Materials  $20,000.00 
Exterior Siding and Trim – Labor and Materials $34,500.00 
Windows  $12,000.00 
Roofing and Flashing  $7,500.00 

TOTAL $74,000.00 
 
Property Tax Rebate - Property owners may be eligible to receive a rebate for the Village portion of their property 
tax bill in exchange for substantial exterior alterations, rehabilitation, or restoration work over a maximum period 
of five (5) yeas. A minimum investment of $50,000 on eligible exterior improvements is required. Funds are 
reimbursed after the project is complete, passes final inspections, contractors or other involved companies have 
been paid, the property tax bill installment is paid, and a Reimbursement Request Form is submitted to the Village. 
Benefits may be transferred to subsequent property owners.  
 
The property owner is eligible for the property tax rebate as the proposed eligible work exceeds $50,000. For 
reference, in 2022, the Village portion of the property tax bill for 317 E. First Street was $1,690.84 of the total 
property tax bill of $23,037.82. The property owner could possibly be rebated an estimated $8,454.20 or more 
over 5 years based on the 2022 amount of the Village portion of the bill. The actual amount for the Village portion 
of a property tax bill may vary annually due to changes in the assessed value or other factors.  

Matching Grant - The Village Board may approve funding for 50% of eligible project costs, up to a maximum of 
$10,000 per project provided by the Village, with a minimum investment of $20,000 from the applicant. Funds are 
reimbursed to the applicant after all work is completed, inspected, and approved by the Village and after all 
contractors or other companies have been paid by the applicant. The property owner is eligible for $10,000 in 
grant funding, after factoring in the minimum investment of $50,000 on eligible exterior improvements to quality 
for the property tax rebate from the total project costs.  
 
Historic Preservation Commission Review & Approval - Projects shall be reviewed according to the Secretary of 
the Interior's Standards for the Treatment of Historic Properties and Standards for Rehabilitation to ensure that a 
historic building's integrity, significant elements and character is retained and appropriately repaired. 
 
The Historic Preservation Commission has the authority to approve the requested alternative zoning regulations, 
building permit fee waiver, and expedited processing. Final approval by the Board of Trustees is not required for 
these Incentive types. The Historic Preservation Commission shall provide a recommendation to the Village Board 
for applications requesting a matching grant or property tax rebate, with final approval granted by the Village 
Board. 
 
Staff recommends that the Historic Preservation Commission provide two separate motions for this project.  
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One motion should state that the Commission moves to approve the Preservation Incentive request to allow for 
alternative zoning regulations, a building permit fee waiver, and expedited processing. The other motion should 
state that the Commission moves to recommend approval of the Preservation Incentive request to allow for a 
property tax rebate and matching grant to the Village Board.  
 
PROCESS 

Pursuant to Title 14, Section 14-7-4, various Preservation Incentives are available to applicants regarding 
properties approved for inclusion on the Historically Significant Structures Property List within the Historic Overlay 
District, subject to application and conformance with program requirements. Applications for Preservation 
Incentives shall conform to the applicable standards and review process set forth in Village Code Title 14, Section 
14-7-4 and Section 14-7-5.  
 
A Preservation Incentive Certificate shall be approved by the Historic Preservation Commission if the exterior 
alterations, additions, rehabilitation, restoration or relocation of or to any structure on a property on the 
Historically Significant Structures Property List is found by the Historic Preservation Commission to be consistent 
with, or compatible with, the historical nature of the structure. Consideration of whether this standard is met shall 
be guided by the Secretary of the Interior's Standards for the Treatment of Historic Properties, where applicable, 
and the Secretary of the Interior's Standards for Rehabilitation. The proposed exterior alterations, additions, 
rehabilitation, repairs or relocation will not have any significant adverse impact on adjacent properties, including, 
but not limited to stormwater runoff impacts. 
 
A completed application shall be reviewed by the Historic Preservation Commission at a public meeting for 
consideration as to the issuance of a Preservation Incentive Certificate. For applications seeking a waiver of fees, 
expedited process, or alternative bulk standards, where a majority of the then-sitting members of the Historic 
Preservation Commission finds that a Preservation Incentive Certificate should be granted, the Certificate shall be 
issued by the Village Manager or his or her designee. 
 
For applications requesting a grant or property tax rebate, the vote of the Historic Preservation Commission shall 
be advisory, and a recommendation shall be forwarded to the Board of Trustees. If the Historic Preservation 
Commission does not recommend approval of an application requesting a grant or a rebate, with at least four (4) 
affirmative votes, the application is denied and will not proceed to the Board of Trustees. Upon receipt of a 
recommendation from the Historic Preservation Commission, the affirmative vote of four (4) or more members 
of the Board of Trustees is required for approval of a Preservation Incentive Certificate involving a grant or rebate. 
The Board of Trustees approval of such grant or rebate shall specify the specific amount approved in the case of 
a grant or number of approved years in the case of a Property Tax Rebate. Upon Board of Trustees approval, a 
Preservation Incentive Certificate shall be issued by the Village Manager or his or her designee. 
 
Final Determinations of the Historic Preservation Commission on a Preservation Incentive Certificate may be 
appealed to the Board of Trustees by filing a request for an appeal within ten (10) days of the denial. Within sixty 
(60) days following the receipt of an appeal, the Board of Trustees shall either grant the Preservation Incentive 
Certificate, affirm its denial, or remand the matter back to the Historic Preservation Commission for further 
proceedings. 
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The Historic Preservation Commission or the Board of Trustees, as applicable, may impose reasonable conditions 
on the issuance of a Preservation Incentive Certificate. No Preservation Incentive shall be made available unless 
the Applicant, following a Final Determination, enters into a Program Agreement on a form previously developed 
by staff and approved by the Board of Trustees governing the terms and conditions of any Preservation Incentive 
received. 
 
ATTACHMENTS 

1. Zoning Map and Project Location 
2. Aerial View  
3. Birds Eye View 
4. Street View 
5. Historically Significant Structures Property Information  
6. Preservation Incentive Review Criteria - Village Code Title 14, Section 14-7-5(F) 
7. Preservation Incentive Application and Exhibits 
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Aerial View – 317 E. First Street 
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Birds Eye View – 317 E. First Street 
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Street View – 317 E. First Street 
 

 

 



Village of Hinsdale 
Community Development Department 

19 E. Chicago Avenue 
Hinsdale, Illinois 60521 

(630) 789-7030

HISTORICALLY SIGNIFICANT STRUCTURES PROPERTY LIST 
PROPERTY INFORMATION SHEET 

Address 
317 E. First Street 

County 
DuPage 

PIN / Parcel Number 
09-12-204-016

Zoning District 
R-1 Single Family Zoning District

Land Use 
Single Family 

Historic Name 
Charles and Mary Mihm House 

Architect 
N/A 

Date Constructed 
1888 

Architectural Style 
Queen Anne   

Past Historic Surveys / Historic Significance 
• Reconnaissance Survey (1999) - Significant / Historically Significant
• Robbins Park I Survey (2002) - Contributing

Additional Photos 



Robbins Park I Survey (2002) 





PRESERVATION INCENTIVE REVIEW CRITERIA - VILLAGE CODE TITLE 14, SECTION 14-7-5(F) 
 
14-7-5: PRESERVATION INCENTIVES PROCESS AND REQUIREMENTS: 
 
F. Design Criteria and Development Standards for Properties in the Historic Overlay District Utilizing 

Preservation Incentives. A Preservation Incentive Certificate shall be approved by the Historic 
Preservation Commission if it complies with the following standards 
1. The exterior alterations, additions, rehabilitation, restoration or relocation of or to any structure on 

a property on the Historically Significant Structures Property List is found by the Historic 
Preservation Commission to be consistent with, or compatible with, the historical nature of the 
structure. Consideration of whether this standard is met shall be guided by the Secretary of the 
Interior's Standards for the Treatment of Historic Properties, where applicable, and the Secretary 
of the Interior's Standards for Rehabilitation as follows: 

a. A property shall be used for its historic purpose or be placed in a new use that requires 
minimal change to the defining characteristics of the building and its site environment; 

b. The historic character of a property shall be retained and preserved. The removal of 
historic materials or alteration of features and spaces that characterize a property shall be 
avoided; 

c. Each property shall be recognized as a physical record of its time, place, and use. 
Changes that create a false sense of historical development, such as adding conjectural 
features or architectural elements from other buildings, shall not be undertaken; 

d. Most properties and structures change over time; those changes that have acquired 
historic significance in their own right shall be retained and preserved; 

e. Distinctive stylistic features or examples of skilled craftsmanship that characterize a 
building, structure, or site shall be treated with sensitivity; 

f. Deteriorated historic features shall be repaired rather than replaced. Where the severity 
of deterioration requires replacement of a distinctive feature, the new feature shall match 
the old in design, color, texture, and other visual qualities, and, where possible, materials. 
Replacement of missing features shall be substantiated by documentary, physical, or 
pictorial evidence; 

g. Chemical or physical treatments, such as sandblasting, that cause damage to historic 
materials shall not be used. The surface cleaning of the structures, if appropriate, shall be 
undertaken using the gentlest means possible; 

h. Significant archaeological resources affected by a project shall be protected and 
preserved. If such resources must be disturbed, mitigation measures shall be undertaken; 

i. New additions, exterior alterations, or related new construction shall not destroy historic 
materials that characterize the property. The new work shall be differentiated from the old 
and shall be compatible with the massing, size, scale, and architectural features to protect 
the historic integrity of the property and its environment; 

j. New additions and adjacent or related new construction shall be undertaken in such a 
manner that if removed in the future, the essential form and integrity of the historic property 
and its environment would be unimpaired. 

2. The proposed exterior alterations, additions, rehabilitation, repairs or relocation will not have any 
significant adverse impact on adjacent properties. Such adverse impacts include, but are not 
limited to, stormwater runoff impacts. 

3. All other Village code requirements must be met. 













MICHAEL ABRAHAM 
 A R C H I T E C T U R E  
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CLARENDON HILLS,  ILLINOIS  60514  
P H O N E  ( 6 3 0 )  6 5 5 . 9 4 1 7  

M I C H AE L - A B RA H AM . C OM 
 
 

317 E. 1st Street 
Hinsdale, Illinois 

 
 
March 4th, 2024 
 
RE: HOD Preservation Incentive-317 E. First St 

To the Historic Preservation Commission and Village staff, 

The owners of 317 E. 1st Street, Peter Barre and Erin Kelley, are seeking approval for HOD 
preservation bulk incentives along with permit fee waivers, expedited processing, property tax 
rebate and preservation matching grant. As part of the alternative bulk zoning regulations, we are 
requesting a reduced rear yard setback for a porte-cochere and reduced interior side yard setback 
for a patio area. 
 
The proposed work consists of a mudroom addition and porte-cochere on the north end of an 
early 2000s addition. It will also include extending the existing porch on the west face of the 
residence and replacing an existing 2-car detached garage with a new 2-car detached garage. The 
owners also intend to remodel the first floor side entry, a majority of the second floor and convert 
the existing attic space to a bedroom and common area. In finishing the attic, two dormers will 
be added to the east and one on the west for new stairs.  
 
The exterior of the detached garage and mudroom addition will match the existing materials and 
details on the existing residence. The new garage will be placed further back from the road and 
the new mudroom addition will be a single-story with a low-pitched roof to not overwhelm the 
existing façade. The proposed porte-cochere and porch extension will match the existing detail of 
the front porch.  
 
Attached to this letter are existing photographs, existing and proposed floor plans, and rendered 
elevations to show our design intent for improving upon this home while maintaining its 
historically significant qualities.  
 
We are hopeful that the proposed design is in keeping with the intent of the Historic Overlay 
District and the Commission considers approval for the owner’s request for preservation 
incentives. 
 
 
Sincerely, 
 
Abigail Rohlinger 
Michael Abraham Architecture 
630.655.9417 ext. 311 



LEGAL DESCRIPTION 

LOT 34 (EXCEPT THE NORTH 40 FEET), LOT 35 AND LOT 36 IN PAYNE’S 
SUBDIVISION OF BLOCK 2 IN ROBIN’S FIRST ADDITION TO THE TOWN OF 
HINSDALE, IN THE NORTH ½ OF THE NORTHEAST ¼ OF SECTION 12, TOWNSHIP 38 
NORTH, RANGE 11, EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, ACCORDING TO 
THE PLAT THEREOF RECORDED AUGUST 5, 1887 AS DOCUMENT 37836, IN DUPAGE 
COUNTY, ILLINOIS. 

COMMON ADDRESS: 317 EAST 1ST STREET, HINSDALE 



F R O N T  E L E VAT I O N

view from 1st Street (south facade)



S I D E  E L E VAT I O N

view from backyard (west facade)
existing porch to be extended



R E A R  E L E VAT I O N

view from backyard (north facade)
detached garage to be removed
and mudrroom addition and
porte-cochere to be added



S I D E  E L E VAT I O N

view from Orchard Place (east facade)
detached garage to be removed



E X I S T I N G  M AT E R I A L S

proposed porte-cochere to match 
existing porch details (including
trim, brackets and spandrels) 



E X I S T I N G  M AT E R I A L S

New addition and detached garage to match 
existing siding and trim







Project: Barre Residence Renovation

Address: 317 E 1st Street

City: Hinsdale, IL

Contractor: Redwood Construction Group

Exterior Renovation Work

1      Rough Carpentry - Labor and Materials $20,000
2      Exterior Siding and Trim - Labor and Materials $34,500
3      Windows $12,000
4      Roofing and Flashing $7,500

TOTAL COST = $74,000

Note - Pricing does not include the new detached garage.

616 Executive Drive, Willowbrook, IL 60527
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1/8" = 1'-0"

PARTIAL PLAN SHOWN FOR
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DETACHED GARAGE PLAN
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E X I S T I N G  N O R T H  E L E V A T I O N
SCALE: 1/8" = 1'-0"
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E X I S T I N G  W E S T  E L E V A T I O N
SCALE: 1/8" = 1'-0"



E X I S T I N G  S O U T H  E L E V A T I O N
SCALE: 1/8" = 1'-0"
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E X I S T I N G  E A S T  E L E V A T I O N
SCALE: 1/8" = 1'-0"













 
AGENDA ITEM #_____ 

HISTORIC PRESERVATION COMMISSION  
MEMORANDUM 

4d 

DATE:   April 19, 2024 

TO:   Chairman Bohnen and Historic Preservation Commissioners 

CC:  Kathleen A. Gargano, Village Manager 
Robb McGinnis, Director of Community Development/Building Commissioner 

FROM:   Bethany Salmon, Village Planner 

RE: Case HPC-7-2024 – 317 S. Park Avenue Street – Certificate of Appropriateness for a Designated 
Local Landmark & Preservation Incentive Application for a Historically Significant Structures 
Property – Request for Alternative Bulk Zoning Regulations, Building Permit Fee Waiver, Expedited 
Processing – Construction of Rear and Side Addition, Exterior Alterations, and Construction of a 
Detached Accessory Structure / Pool House 

FOR: April 23, 2024 Historic Preservation Commission Special Meeting 

___________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
SUMMARY 

The Village of Hinsdale received a Certificate of Appropriateness (COA) application and a Preservation Incentive 
application from Homecrafters LLC requesting approval of alternative zoning regulations, a building permit fee 
waiver, and expedited processing to allow for the construction of a rear and side addition, alterations to the front 
entrance porch, demolition of the existing non-historic detached garage, and the construction of a new pool and 
detached pool house at 317 S. Park Avenue. The property owner listed on the application is 317 S Park St LLC, 
Margaret and Phillip Yeager. 
 
Per Section 14-5-1(A) of the Village Code, no alterations shall be allowed and no permits shall be issued for the 
alteration, demolition, or any physical modification to a designated landmark without the prior issuance of a 
Certificate of Appropriateness by the Historic Preservation Commission.  
 
Per the Village Code, approval of a Preservation Incentive Certificate is required prior to undertaking any project 
utilizing Preservation Incentives and that involves any exterior alterations, additions, rehabilitation, restoration or 
relocation of or to any structure on a property on the Historically Significant Structures Property List.  Applications 
for Preservation Incentives shall conform to the applicable standards and review process set forth in Village Code 
Title 14, Section 14-7-4 and Section 14-7-5.  
 
BACKGROUND 

The existing single-family home at 317 S. Park Avenue was approved for inclusion on the Historically Significant 
Structures Property List on September 5, 2023 by Ordinance No. O2023-25.  
 
On October 1, 2002 by Ordinance No. O2002-57, the Village Board approved 317 S. Park Avenue as a designated 
historic landmark. The building is classified as a Contributing Structure according to the 2002 Robbins Park I Survey 
and Contributing Structure / Historically Significant according to the 1999 Reconnaissance Survey.  
 
The building was constructed in 1872 and features the Second Empire style. During the 1920’s the house was 
renovated, which included the removal of a front porch, a building addition on the front west side of the house, 
the removal of the tower, and changes to the roofline. A rear addition was completed in the 1930’s. In late 2000, 
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the building was damaged by fire. In 2002, the homeowner began extensive fire damage restoration to the house 
and constructed a large rear addition.  

The subject property is located in the R-1 Single Family Residential District and is surrounded by single-family 
homes to the north, south, east and west in the R-1 Single Family Residential District. 
 
REQUEST AND ANALYSIS 

The applicant requests approval of a Preservation Incentive application for alternative zoning regulations, a 
building permit fee waiver, and expedited processing to allow for exterior building alterations to the existing 
house, the removal of the existing rear and side addition, construction of a new rear and side addition, demolition 
of the existing two-car garage, construction of a new pool house, and changes to the site at 317 S. Park Avenue.  
 
A site plan, building elevations, floor plans, plat of survey, and photos of the existing home have been submitted 
for review.   
 
Site Plan / Exterior Improvements - The existing house is approximately 9,753 square feet in size. The existing rear 
and side addition and patio will be removed as part of the project. With the proposed changes, the house will be 
reduced in size to approximately 7,847 square feet. A new two-story rear and side addition with a finished 
basement, attached one-story four-car garage, front stepped terrace, rear raised terrace, and rear screened porch 
will be constructed onto the existing house.  
 
The existing 1-story detached garage located to the rear and east of the house and the adjacent concrete driveway 
will be demolished as part of this project. A pool and a detached accessory pool house measuring approximately 
620 square feet in size will be constructed in roughly the same location as the existing detached garage.  
 
The additions are in keeping with the existing architectural style and materials of the existing house. Details 
incorporated into the design of the additions include matching siding, decorative trim and brackets, roof railing, 
dormers, mansard roof, brick chimneys, and stone foundation.  
 
A detailed description of the changes to the elevations are provided below: 

• West Elevation (Front) – The existing roof on the front porch will be removed and replaced with a mansard 
roof. The rear and side additions are  visible from this elevation, which includes a two-story addition and an 
attached one-story four-car garage. The attached garage includes two overhead doors, a mansard roof, and a 
decorative cornice / trim to match the existing house. The two-story addition includes a stepped bluestone 
terrace, a covered entrance door, various windows and dormers that match the existing house, and decorative 
roof railing around a second floor patio that matches the railing on top of the existing bay window.  

• South Elevation (Interior Side) – The proposed addition on this elevation includes the side of the one-story 
attached garage and two-story addition, which will be constructed of matching building materials and includes 
a screened porch with a decorative cornice to match the existing house as well as stairs and a fireplace 
constructed of stone to match the existing foundation.  The proposed windows and dormers will match the 
existing design and materials on the house. 

• East Elevation (Rear) – The rear two-story addition includes a walk-out basement as well as an elevated first-
floor open terrace with sliding doors, stone stairs, and a screened porch. The lower level façade will be covered 
in stone veneer to match the existing stone foundation and the upper levels will be constructed of wood siding 
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to match the existing siding. The building addition will be constructed of matching building materials, including 
roofing, and decorative cornices and brackets, trim, windows, dormers, siding, stone foundation, and brick 
chimneys. One overhead garage door is a proposed on the backside of the attached garage.  

• North Elevation (Interior Side) – The majority of the north elevation will remain as is. A portion of the rear 
addition, elevated terrace and screened porch are visible from this elevation and will be constructed of 
building materials to match the existing house.  

• Pool House / Existing Detached Garage - The existing two-car detached garage is not historic and will be 
demolished to allow for the construction of a new pool and detached pool house on the east side of the 
property, to the rear of the house. The pool house will be constructed of smooth cedar paneling with an 
applied cedar lattice, cedar soffit and fascia, sliding doors, and double hung windows painted white to match 
the existing home 

 
The applicant is requesting to reduce the south interior side yard setback to 10’-6” (from 10’ or 6’ plus 10% of lot 
width in excess of 50’, whichever is greater, plus combined total side yards per the R-1 District regulations) and 
waive floor area ratio. Alternative bulk zoning regulations listed in Section 8-205 of the Zoning Code allow for an 
interior side yard setback of 10’ for properties in the R-1 District subject to approval of a Preservation Incentive 
Certificate by the Historic Preservation Commission. The proposed plan meets all other bulk zoning requirements. 
 
Historic Preservation Commission Review & Approval - Projects shall be reviewed according to the Secretary of 
the Interior's Standards for the Treatment of Historic Properties and Standards for Rehabilitation to ensure that a 
historic building's integrity, significant elements and character is retained and appropriately repaired. 
 
The Historic Preservation Commission has the authority to approve the requested alternative zoning regulations, 
building permit fee waiver, and expedited processing. Final approval by the Board of Trustees is not required for 
these Incentive types.  
 
PROCESS 

Certificate of Appropriateness - Pursuant to Title 14, Section 14-5-1(A), no alteration shall be allowed to, and no 
permits shall be issued for, the alteration, demolition, signage, or any other physical modifications of the exterior 
architectural appearance of a designated landmark without the prior issuance of a Certificate of Appropriateness.  
 
Applications for a Certificate of Appropriateness shall conform to the applicable standards set forth in Village Code 
Title 14, Section 14-5-2, which are attached for review. The review process and decisions of the Historic 
Preservation Commission related to a Certificate of Appropriateness for a Landmark are listed in Title 14, Section 
14-5-4 and Section 14-5-5.  
 
Preservation Incentive - Pursuant to Title 14, Section 14-7-4, various Preservation Incentives are available to 
applicants regarding properties approved for inclusion on the Historically Significant Structures Property List 
within the Historic Overlay District, subject to application and conformance with program requirements. 
Applications for Preservation Incentives shall conform to the applicable standards and review process set forth in 
Village Code Title 14, Section 14-7-4 and Section 14-7-5.  
 
A Preservation Incentive Certificate shall be approved by the Historic Preservation Commission if the exterior 
alterations, additions, rehabilitation, restoration or relocation of or to any structure on a property on the 
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Historically Significant Structures Property List is found by the Historic Preservation Commission to be consistent 
with, or compatible with, the historical nature of the structure. Consideration of whether this standard is met shall 
be guided by the Secretary of the Interior's Standards for the Treatment of Historic Properties, where applicable, 
and the Secretary of the Interior's Standards for Rehabilitation. The proposed exterior alterations, additions, 
rehabilitation, repairs or relocation will not have any significant adverse impact on adjacent properties, including, 
but not limited to stormwater runoff impacts. 
 
A completed application shall be reviewed by the Historic Preservation Commission at a public meeting for 
consideration as to the issuance of a Preservation Incentive Certificate. For applications seeking a waiver of fees, 
expedited process, or alternative bulk standards, where a majority of the then-sitting members of the Historic 
Preservation Commission finds that a Preservation Incentive Certificate should be granted, the Certificate shall be 
issued by the Village Manager or his or her designee. 
 
For applications requesting a grant or property tax rebate, the vote of the Historic Preservation Commission shall 
be advisory, and a recommendation shall be forwarded to the Board of Trustees. If the Historic Preservation 
Commission does not recommend approval of an application requesting a grant or a rebate, with at least four (4) 
affirmative votes, the application is denied and will not proceed to the Board of Trustees. Upon receipt of a 
recommendation from the Historic Preservation Commission, the affirmative vote of four (4) or more members 
of the Board of Trustees is required for approval of a Preservation Incentive Certificate involving a grant or rebate. 
The Board of Trustees approval of such grant or rebate shall specify the specific amount approved in the case of 
a grant or number of approved years in the case of a Property Tax Rebate. Upon Board of Trustees approval, a 
Preservation Incentive Certificate shall be issued by the Village Manager or his or her designee. 
 
Final Determinations of the Historic Preservation Commission on a Preservation Incentive Certificate may be 
appealed to the Board of Trustees by filing a request for an appeal within ten (10) days of the denial. Within sixty 
(60) days following the receipt of an appeal, the Board of Trustees shall either grant the Preservation Incentive 
Certificate, affirm its denial, or remand the matter back to the Historic Preservation Commission for further 
proceedings. 
 
The Historic Preservation Commission or the Board of Trustees, as applicable, may impose reasonable conditions 
on the issuance of a Preservation Incentive Certificate. No Preservation Incentive shall be made available unless 
the Applicant, following a Final Determination, enters into a Program Agreement on a form previously developed 
by staff and approved by the Board of Trustees governing the terms and conditions of any Preservation Incentive 
received. 
 
ATTACHMENTS 

1. Zoning Map and Project Location 
2. Aerial View  
3. Birds Eye View 
4. Street View 
5. Historically Significant Structures Property Information / Ordinance No. O2001-57 – Landmark Designation 

Ordinance 
6. Preservation Incentive Review Criteria - Village Code Title 14, Section 14-7-5(F) 
7. Preservation Incentive Application and Exhibits 



Village of Hinsdale Zoning Map and Project Location  
 
 

 

317 S. Park Avenue 
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317 S. Park Avenue 



Aerial View – 317 S. Park Avenue 
 

 

   

317 S. Park Avenue 



Birds Eye View – 317 S. Park Avenue 
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Birds Eye View – 317 S. Park Avenue 
 

 

 

 

 

 



 

Birds Eye View – 317 S. Park Avenue 
 

 

 

 

 



Birds Eye View – 317 S. Park Avenue 
 

 

 



Street View – 317 S. Park Avenue 
 

 

 



Village of Hinsdale 
Community Development Department 

19 E. Chicago Avenue 
Hinsdale, Illinois 60521 

(630) 789-7030

HISTORICALLY SIGNIFICANT STRUCTURES PROPERTY LIST 
PROPERTY INFORMATION SHEET 

Address 
317 S. Park Avenue 

County 
DuPage 

PIN / Parcel Number 
09-12-212-003

Zoning District 
R-1 Single Family Zoning District

Land Use 
Single Family 

Historic Name 
John Frederick Stuart House 

Architect 
N/A 

Date Constructed 
1872 

Architectural Style 
Second Empire 

Past Historic Surveys / Historic Significance 
• Designated Local Landmark (Ord. No. O2002-57)
• Reconnaissance Survey (1999) - Contributing / Historically Significant
• Robbins Park I Survey (2002) – Contributing
• Prior Certificate of Appropriateness Approvals - Renovation and restoration work to repair fire damage and

rear addition (2002)

Additional Photos 

















317 South Park Avenue – Private Residence 

The two and one-half story wood frame and wood clad building, was constructed in 1873 in 
the “Second Empire” style was landmarked by the Village Board on October 1, 2002.  The 
building was substantially remodeled during the 1920s when the roofline was altered, a tower 
was removed, and the front porch was removed and replaced with an enclosed building 
addition.  In December 2000, while undergoing renovation, the building suffered extensive 
fire damage to the roof and rear 25 feet of the building.   

The building is located on a curvilinear street, on top of a slight hill on a short block at an 
important and scenic intersection in the historic Robbins Park subdivision, and because of its 
original tower, was historically known as the Stuart Castle.  The house’s original owner, John 
Stuart, was one of the signers of the Petition for Incorporation of the Village of Hinsdale in 
1873.  He built this house that same year. 

Although its original design was in the Second Empire style, the building represents an 
evolution over several different architectural periods.  Elaborate eave brackets, unusual 
window surrounds and much of the original wood siding with a beaded edge still exist today.  
The foundation is fieldstone, typical of the time period.  The building also displays 
balustrades and other features of the Colonial Revival style from its 1920s remodeling. 



The current owners are rehabilitating the building and constructing an addition on the rear of 
the structure. 

c. 1920.  Photo courtesy Hinsdale Historical Society

Spring 2003 building restoration 
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"Hinsdale's Historic Homes and the People Who Lived in Them", Volume 2, Mary Sterling, 1997; 



Present owners Don and Diane Kane bought the house in 1994 
and live there with their children, Whitney, Don, Charlie and Steve. 

As previously stated, the Dickinsons. did extensive remodeling 
from 1919·1926, removing the tower, building a small wing to the 
north,. extending the dining room to the south, and enclosing the 
sleeping porch. The front of the house was extended over the front 
porch, and the roofwas changed. After work ceased in.1926, no 
exterior changes have been made. The Ryans had detailed architectural 
drawings made ofthe interior and exterior for before,and-after use. 

The Ryans have received a great deal of information from Fred 
Dickinson who wrote the letter we mentioned .. He has an extensive 
collectionofHinsdale memorabilia at his home.in Michigan. Itwas his 
brother; Robert, who was commissioned by their mother to paint .a 
mural on the library wall. When the Ryans removed the mural, they 
carefully cut the canvas it was painted on, framed it and gave it to Fred 
and his wife. In 1943, The Currans added shelving in the library, some 
closets, and the paneling on the fireplace wall in the living room. At 
that time Joey Curran, latefMrs: Charles A. Comiskey,. was a high 
school student. The Currans later moved to Downers Grove. 

Much of the landscaping was done by the Lundys. · The flagstone 
terracing in the front still remains but much of the planting was done in 
1987-88. The Shewalters added the flagstone terrace in the rear as 
well as kitchen cabinets which are still in use. The Lusteds added many 
shrubs and small trees. The Ryans remodeled the kitchen, some baths 
and also did a great deal oflandscaping. The Kanes have added air 
conditioning to the house and treated the house to a coat of paint. 

It's marvelous that So many former owners haveretumed to the 
house, . adding to its history with each visit. The house boasts four 
fireplaces, in the library, living room, master bedroom and upstairs 
study. All are made of decorative marble brought from Italy. 

The Ryans took photographs of the house at different stages, 
before and after the tower was removed. When Mrs. Ryan spoke with 
long-time neighbor, Mrs. Glendora Freeman, wondering why this large 
house didn't possess a stable for its horses, Mrs. Freeman replied, 
simply, "Mr. Stuart never kept horses." It seems he commuted on the 
train and never had the need for his own horses. 

Today the Kanes enjoy this magnificent house perfectly situated 
close to town on a shady street with a small triangular park in front. 

415 S. Park 

The large white Victorian at 415 S. Park, now owned by Michael 
and Dee Laforte, was built in 1886 by Henry C. Dana. Writing about 
this house has been made much easier by the hard work of Dee, who 
was not only the owner but a board member of the Hinsdale Historical 
Society who has worked on its Archives Committee. 

In 1900 Henry Dana and his wife, Margaret, were renting rooms 
from Mrs. Shrum on on Lincoln Street. Dana, a 3 8 year,old insurance 
agent from Illinois was married to Margaret, 27, from Canada .. They'd 
been married for 8 years and had.no children. With them is Frank 
Dana, I 0, most likely a child from Henry's previous marriage. 

Henry, a successful insurance agent, controlled practically all the 
insurance agents in. Chicago's Chinatown and was a trustee for the 
village as well as a charter member of the Hinsdale Golf Club. 

A blurb irt an 1898 issue of"TheDoings" reveals that Mrs, Dana 
,, " was not in g ood health atthat time. "Mrs. H.C .. Dana, who has been in 

Excelsior Springs, Ind., on account of her health, has returned to 
Hinsdale much improved by the trip." 

I can't explain why they're boarding with Mrs .. Shannon in 1900. 
Perhaps they were redecorating and had to move out for a short time. 
We do know thatthey lived in this house at 415 S. Park for many 
years, including 1909, when the Directory lists them at this address. 
Dana's occupation in 1909 is an insurance agent with August TofPe, Jr. 
& Co. on La Salle Street in Chicago. 

"' 



PRESERVATION INCENTIVE REVIEW CRITERIA - VILLAGE CODE TITLE 14, SECTION 14-7-5(F) 
 
14-7-5: PRESERVATION INCENTIVES PROCESS AND REQUIREMENTS: 
 
F. Design Criteria and Development Standards for Properties in the Historic Overlay District Utilizing 

Preservation Incentives. A Preservation Incentive Certificate shall be approved by the Historic 
Preservation Commission if it complies with the following standards 
1. The exterior alterations, additions, rehabilitation, restoration or relocation of or to any structure on 

a property on the Historically Significant Structures Property List is found by the Historic 
Preservation Commission to be consistent with, or compatible with, the historical nature of the 
structure. Consideration of whether this standard is met shall be guided by the Secretary of the 
Interior's Standards for the Treatment of Historic Properties, where applicable, and the Secretary 
of the Interior's Standards for Rehabilitation as follows: 

a. A property shall be used for its historic purpose or be placed in a new use that requires 
minimal change to the defining characteristics of the building and its site environment; 

b. The historic character of a property shall be retained and preserved. The removal of 
historic materials or alteration of features and spaces that characterize a property shall be 
avoided; 

c. Each property shall be recognized as a physical record of its time, place, and use. 
Changes that create a false sense of historical development, such as adding conjectural 
features or architectural elements from other buildings, shall not be undertaken; 

d. Most properties and structures change over time; those changes that have acquired 
historic significance in their own right shall be retained and preserved; 

e. Distinctive stylistic features or examples of skilled craftsmanship that characterize a 
building, structure, or site shall be treated with sensitivity; 

f. Deteriorated historic features shall be repaired rather than replaced. Where the severity 
of deterioration requires replacement of a distinctive feature, the new feature shall match 
the old in design, color, texture, and other visual qualities, and, where possible, materials. 
Replacement of missing features shall be substantiated by documentary, physical, or 
pictorial evidence; 

g. Chemical or physical treatments, such as sandblasting, that cause damage to historic 
materials shall not be used. The surface cleaning of the structures, if appropriate, shall be 
undertaken using the gentlest means possible; 

h. Significant archaeological resources affected by a project shall be protected and 
preserved. If such resources must be disturbed, mitigation measures shall be undertaken; 

i. New additions, exterior alterations, or related new construction shall not destroy historic 
materials that characterize the property. The new work shall be differentiated from the old 
and shall be compatible with the massing, size, scale, and architectural features to protect 
the historic integrity of the property and its environment; 

j. New additions and adjacent or related new construction shall be undertaken in such a 
manner that if removed in the future, the essential form and integrity of the historic property 
and its environment would be unimpaired. 

2. The proposed exterior alterations, additions, rehabilitation, repairs or relocation will not have any 
significant adverse impact on adjacent properties. Such adverse impacts include, but are not 
limited to, stormwater runoff impacts. 

3. All other Village code requirements must be met. 





Apri l 2020

Desc r i p t i on of work proposed. (Please submi t a description o f the p roposed
alterations and/or addit ions. At tach addit ional sheets, and photographs, a s

necessary) .

The o w n e r s wou ld l ike t o d e m o the ex is t ing d e t a c h e d g a r a g e t o a l low f o r a poo l

and a poo l house structure. O n t h e m a i n house , t h e y w o u l d l ike t o a d d an a t t a c h e d

garage a n d re-do the addi t ion o f f the back o f t h e h o u s e t o m a k e it f u n c t i o n f o r

m o d e r n fami l y l iving.
a

a

a
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5. TABLE OF COMPLIANCE

Address of subject property: __ 317 S Park Hinsdale, IL 60521

The following table is based on the jz -|___ Zoning District

You may write ?N/A? if the| Minimum Code Existing Proposed
application does NOT affect the | Requirements Development _ | Development
building/subject property.

p O
Lot Area (SF p a m n eB F | s 5 2 2 0 o FE aS5azeo S r |
Lot Depth S l o " T a o !
Lot Width E e P i z !
Building Height | a t e s [ e z e 4 2 "

Number of Stories e eee
Front Yard Setback B l a c c e r | A e ) | 4 g )
Comer Side YardSetbackk | W e | N w )N e
Interior Side Yard Setback [ lo .oo 'szz e e l l s e o ) M i c k l e|
Rear Yard Setback | S o c | [ t +e s ! |

F.AR.)* B i v | 1 0 6 4 . c o a IZ

Coverage* b= £ 2 0 ST OF| LPs 2
Maximum Tota l Lot
Coverage* 5 0 h = \ " l é g o 2 H 3 ¥ e 415 = 2 2 . 5 0 %
Parking Requirements

N / A N w

[Parking frontyardsetback| W A . = | W A | N e ?
Parking comer side yard f e |Ws WA

a aParking rear yardsetback | Wye | ~ Nsw | Nw
Loading Requirements | \ize | Nva | N w .

Accessory Structure Ob WAY bres.l o w e r | teol H o s ?ATJohMeier] a o r [ eU tee ah
* Must provide actual square footage number and percentage.

lacko f compliance le shown, state the reason and explain the Village's authority,I f any, to approve the
application despite euch lack of compliance:_See attachment for d e s c r i p t i o n .

A p r i l 2020 P a c e4 o f 6



CERTIF ICATION

The Applicant hereby acknowledges and agrees that:

A . The statements contained in this application are true and correct to the best of the
Applicant's knowledge and belief;

B. The Applicant will provide the Village with all additional information, as required,
prior to the consideration of, or action on, this application;

Cc. The Applicant shall make the property that is the subject of this application available
for inspection by the Village at reasonable times;

D . If any information provided in this application changes or becomes incomplete or

inapplicable for any reason following submission of this application, the Applicant
shall submit a supplemental application or other acceptable written statement
containing the new or corrected information as soon as practicable but not less than
ten days following the change, and that failure to do so shall be grounds for denial
of the application; and

E . If the Applicant fails to provide any of the requested information, or any other
requested information by the Boards, Commissions, and/or Staff, then the applicant
will not be considered.

QO INDIVIDUAL OWNERS

Signature o f Applicant Signature of Applicant

CORPORATION

Signature of Applicant's President Signature o f Applicant 's Secretary

Signature o f Appl icant

Signature of Applicant

LAND TRUST OTHER

Signature Signature of Authori

SUBSCRIBED A N D BYVORN
to before me this day of

OFFICIAL SEAL

Apel 2020 CATHERINE KNOEBEL
NOTARY PUBLIC, STATE OF ILLINOIS Pane 5 of §

M Y COMMISSION EXPIRES JUNE08, 2024



HISTORIC OVERLAY DISTRICT =
PRESERVATION INCENTIVE APPLICATION FORM =

Property Address

O r AZ 3 4 2

Zoning district [ 2 ? | Land Use <>|N
:PROPERTY TYPE? e SES STE

(1) Approved for inclusion on the Historically Significant
Structures Property List

( R e q u e s t to be added to the Historically Significant Structures
Property List

L e e h e<I ?| CO. AS
Mees 121 scar expoucrtt ?|ow/sae/m HINetaale, IL aoa
Phone OOO o r t o o

zi ora 5 R E SSEif
EaWeEine a ? e r e e

M A aps be é. PH [ceo ae.
Address City / State / Zip

ferone em
E e T e r a

Property Size (Square Feet) 2 1 5 2 4 2 Building Size (Square Feet) g t iD

Total Cost of Exterior Improvements Cost of Eligible Improvements

Estimated Work Start Date Estimated Work End Date

I hereby affirm that | have ful l legal c a p a c i t yt o a u t h o r i z ethe filing of this application and that all information and exhibits herewith
submitted are true and correct to the best of m y knowledge. | agree to aliow Village representatives t o make all reasonable
inspections and investigations o f the property. 1 agree to comply with all Village of Hinsdale codes and ordinances. | certify that
all exterior improvements will be completed In compliance with program requirements and in conformance with the terms,
conditions, and approved plans set forth in the Preservation Incentive Agreement.

E d i s b i> t e a A h
Printed Name of Applicant Signature ofApplicant Date

Printed Name of Property Owner Signature of Property Owner Date

FOR O F F I C EUSEONLY:

HPC / B o a r d Approval D a t e

[condiensct promi oven oo | ftingpectonons |

Mobile User

Mobile User
Margaret Yeager

Mobile User
3/18/24



5. TABLE OF COMPLIANCE

Address of subject property:__317 S Park Hinsdale, IL 60521

The following table is based on the _2--| Zoning District.

You may write On a t the MinimumCode_ | Existing Proposed yct velopme!building/subject ©| Requirements Development Develop

PTCSYSSC???CSCSCSCSCSCSCSCC*d
Lot Area (SF ,

| j 2 s t
| i 2 s t i g s O T ieest

Building Height | a e ! p a s e !
| > eee
| l a c e Laer . |
|N e e

= a e .4o
Boe dae be AE 4g J

[Interior Side YardSetback [ looms2ecel i l t s o e l i b h b o
[RearYardSetback | Somes  | t r l o l e s| i a p a

Maximum Floor Area Ratio
F.AR.)* $97) Fl A064.co an |lIee4

Maximum Total Building | o k ] a= 144 ageowingn l aee- s p a c e d s o t i a c a e o n e Ip
MaximumTotal LotCoverge (sob: M e c o o t l e y o -2474 (IMI 2 0 2
Parking Requirements

N / A . N s

Parking frontyardsetback | N & O| N Y A N e e
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CERTIFICATION

The Applicant (and Owner, If different) certifies, acknowledges and agrees that:
1. The statements contained in this application are true and correct to the best of the Applicant's

knowledge and belief. The Owner of the property, i f different from the Applicant, states that they consent
to the filing of this application and that all information contained in this application is true and correct
to the best of their knowledge.

2 . The Applicant understands that an incomplete or nonconforming application will not be considered. In
addition, the Applicant understands that the Village may require additional information prior to the
consideration of this application.

3. The Applicant and/or Owner shall make the property that is the subjectof this application avallable for
inspection by the Village at reasonable times.

4. If any information provided in this application changes or becomes incomplete or inapplicable for any
reason following submission of this application, the Applicant(s) shall submit a supplemental
application or other acceptable written statement containing the new or corrected information as soon
as practicable but not less than ten (10) days following the change, and that failure to do so may be
grounds for denial of the application.

5. The Applicant understands that he/she is responsible for all application fees and any other fees, which
the Village assesses under the provisions of Subsection 11-301Do f the Village of Hinsdale Zoning Code
as amended April 25, 1989, unless otherwise waived as part of this application process.

6. The Owner of the property and, i f different, the Applicant are jointly and severally lable for the payment
of the applicable application fees. By signing the application, the Owner has agreed to pay said fees,
unless otherwise waived, and to consent to the filing and foreclosure of a lien against the property for
the fee plus costs of collection, if the account is not settled within thirty (30) days after the mailing of a
demand for payment.

On the_ g t day of s e h 2 0 2 4 , (We have read the above certification, understand It, and
agree to abide by its conditions.

Printed Name of Owner Signature of Owner

SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN to before me this _ _ day of

Notary Public Signature & Seal
OTARY PUBLIC, STATE O

MY COMMISSION EXPIRES JUNE 08, 2024

Mobile User

Mobile User
Margaret Yeager

Mobile User
3/18/24







Letter of Authorization  

March 11, 2024


To Whom It May Concern:


This letter will serve as authorization to allow Catie Knoebel, owner of Homecrafters, to assist 
us in applying for Preservation Incentives through the Village of Hinsdale. 


Sincerely, 


Margaret Yeager	 	 	 	 	 	 Phillip Yeager 

margaretkyeager@gmail.com		 	 	 	 


mailto:margaretkyeager@gmail.com
Mobile User

Mobile User



March 10, 2024

To Whom It May Concern:

My clients, Philip and Margaret Yeager, purchased 317 S Park in the Fall of 2023. They are 
excited about creating an oasis for their family, and intend on making this their ‘forever home’. 
With the Title 14 incentives, we are seeking ‘Alternative Bulk Zoning’ to reduce the south interior 
side yard setback to 10.5’, Waiving of Floor Area Ratio (FAR), Fee Waiver for Permits, and 
Expedited Processing. The reduced side yard setback and waiving of FAR will allow them space 
to add an attached garage and addition. 

The current detached garage, driveway, and existing addition will be removed.  

The proposed attached garage and rear addition will be built to compliment and, seamlessly, tie 
into existing historic structure. The house addition will include a sports court, finished basement 
space, mudroom, kitchen, family room, and primary suite. They are also planning to add a 
20x50 pool, spa, and separate pool house will also be built in a complementary fashion and will 
celebrate the original house.

On the next page, please find a table for an outline on square footage per floor. 

The materials for the addition will be stone at the foundation level to compliment the original 
stone foundation, beveled 4” smooth painted cedar siding, white cedar soffit and fascia, red 
brick for the chimneys, and all the windows are to be white double hung to match the historic 
front elevation. 

The pool house exterior material will be painted smooth cedar paneling with an applied white 
cedar lattice, white cedar soffit and fascia, and the large sliders and double hung windows will 
be white to match the existing home. 

Within this package there are current house photographs, floor plans, elevations, and material 
selections to show the design intent while maintaining the historic portion of the home. 



This project is important to save and celebrate this historic home in the heart of the Robbins 
District, while also helping this property to reflect the demands and lifestyles of modern families. 

Thank you for reviewing this proposed project!

Sincerely, 

Catie Knoebel
Owner of Homecrafters
cjknoebel@gmail.com
630.551.5492

317 S Park - Square Foot Table per level 

Floor Level Existing Sq. Ft. Removed Sq. Ft. Addition Sq. Ft

Basement 3,322.12 1,715.00 3,864.94

First Floor 3,322.12 1,944.39 2,314.75

Second Floor 3,109.43 1,671.23 1,667.97

New Pool House 620.75

mailto:cjknoebel@gmail.com


Exterior Material Selections 
317 S Park - Hinsdale, IL 

March 18, 2024

Exterior Siding & Pool House Paneling Paint Color Options

Red Brick Chimney Options

Foundation Base Stone Options





Photos of the Existing Conditions
317 S Park - Hinsdale, IL 
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 GRAPHICAL SCALE (FEET)

PLAT  OF  SURVEY
HINSDALE, ILLINOIS 60521

317 S. PARK AVENUE

Coordinates referenced to the Illinois State Plane
Coordinate System, East Zone (1201).

GENERAL NOTES

1. Survey prepared for: Joe Hallak/Morgan Harbour Construction LLC
2. Field work completed on August 8, 2023
3. No title or letter report was provided for this survey. Boundary based on

Warranty Deed and field evidence.
4. Gross Land Area: 35,654 Square Feet (0.8185 Acre).    
5.     No underground utilities were located at the time of survey.
6. No wetlands were delineated or observed in the process of conducting

the fieldwork.

I, Paul A. Kubicek, an Illinois Professional Land Surveyor, do hereby certify that “This
professional service conforms to the current Illinois minimum standards for a boundary
survey” and that the PLAT OF SURVEY hereon drawn is a correct representation to the
best of my knowledge and belief with the information provided.

SIGNED ________________________________________________________________
              PAUL A. KUBICEK, ILLINOIS PROFESSIONAL LAND SURVEYOR 035-003296

      EXPIRES 11/30/2024
      PINNACLE ENGINEERING GROUP, LLC #184006289-0010
      EXPIRES 04/30/2025

ILLINOIS OFFICE:
1051 E. MAIN STREET - SUITE 217

EAST DUNDEE, IL  60118
(847) 551-5300

LEGAL DESCRIPTION:
LOT 3 IN BLOCK 6 IN W. ROBBIN'S PARK ADDITION TO HINSDALE, BEING A SUBDIVISION OF THE
SOUTH 1/2 OF THE NORTHEAST 1/4 AND OF THE NORTH 1/2 OF THE NORTH 1/2 OF THE SOUTHEAST
1/4 OF SECTION 12, TOWNSHIP 38 NORTH, RANGE 11, EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN,
ACCORDING TO THE PLAT THEREOF RECORDED JUNE 12, 1871 AS DOCUMENT 14048, IN DUPAGE
COUNTY, ILLINOIS.

BENCHMARKS:

REFERENCE BENCHMARK:
NAME: K 53 (PID: DK3135) DUPAGE COUNTY

DISK IN CONCRETE POST LOCATED ON THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF
THE INTERSECTION OF CHICAGO AVENUE AND OAK STREET.

DATUM: NAVD88
ELEVATION: 676.86

SITE BENCHMARK 1:
CUT CROSS IN CURB ON THE WEST SIDE OF S. PARK AVENUE.
ELEVATION: 703.58

NORTH

LEGEND OF SYMBOLS & ABBREVIATIONS
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